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- Deloitte LLP
Hill House
1 Little New Street
London

EC4A 3TR

Phone +44 (0)20 7936 3000
Fax +44 (0)20 7583 0112
www.deloitte.co.uk

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of The Stars Group Inc.
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position of The Stars Group Inc. and

subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the related consolidated statements of (loss)
earni ngs, comprehensive (loss) income, changes in equity, and cash flows for each of the two years in the period

ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). In our

opinion, the financial statements pr esent fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, and its financial performance and cash flows for each of the two years in the period

ended December 31, 2018, in conformity with the Internation al Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United

States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria
established in  Internal Control & Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 6, 2019, expressed an ad verse opinion on the Company's
internal control over financial reporting.

Change in Accounting Principle

As discussed in Note 4 to the financial statements, effective January 1, 2018, the Company has changed its method of
accounting for financial instrume nts due to adoption of IFRS 9, Financial Instruments

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’'s management. Our responsibility is to express an

opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our audits. W e are a public accounting firm registered with
the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission a nd the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material

misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of

material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that

respond to those risks. Such procedures included exami ning, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and

significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentati on of the financial statements.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Deloitte LLP
London, United Kingdom
March 6, 2019

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2015.

Deloitte LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales with registered number OC303675 antitreffise at 1 New Street Square, London, EC4A 3HQ, United
Kingdom.

Deloitte LLP is the United Kingdom affiliate of Deloitte™ L LP, a member firm of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited,
each of its member firms are legally separate and independent entities. DTTL and Deloitte NWE LLP do not provide sgiemtesRéase see www.deloitte.com/about to learn more about
our global network of member firms.

© 2019 Deloitte LLP. All rights reserved.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of The Stars Group Inc.
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financi al reporting of
as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control & Integrated Framework (2013) issued by

the Committee of Spons  oring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, because of the

effect of the material weaknesses identified below on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, the

Company has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on

criteria established in  Internal Control 8 Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (Unit ed
States) (PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018, of the
Company and our report dated March 6, 2019, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and

included an explanatory paragrap h regarding the Companyds change its method of
due to adoption of IFRS 9, Financial Instruments

As described in Managementdés Annual Report on Internal Control O
from its asse ssment the internal control over financial reporting at TSG Australia Pty Ltd and its subsidiaries and

affiliates, including TSGA Holdco Pty Limited and its subsidiaries and affiliates (ABet Easyo) and Cyan Bl ue
Limited and its subsidiaries and affili ates (ASBGO), which were acquired on February 27,
respectively. In respect of BetEasy, its financial statements constitute (1.0)% and 4.5% of net and total assets,

respectively, 9.7% of revenue, and 18.1% of net loss of the consolid ated financial statement amounts as of and for

the year ended December 31, 2018. In respect of SBG, its financial statements constitute 113.5% and 48.2% of net

and total assets, respectively, 19.4% of revenue, and 111.9% of net loss of the consolidated fin ancial statement

amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018. Accordingly, our audit did not include the internal control
over financial reporting at BetEasy and SBG.

Basis for Opinion

The Company6s management i s r es p ativesiriteonhl eontfolmver fimeadiahréparingdnafgr e f f e

its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying

Management 6s Annual Report on Internal Contr ol tyBiwexpress anropimion i a | Re
on the Companyés internal control over financi al reporting based

registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the
U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and
the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the auditto ob  tain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a mater ial weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a re asonable basis for our opinion.

Deloitte LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales with registered number OC303675 antbiedreffise at 1 New Street Square, London, EC4A 3HQ, United
Kingdom.

Deloitte LLP is the United Kingdom affiliate of Deloitte™ L LP, a member firm of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited,
each of its member firms are legally separate and independent entities. DTTL and Deloitte NWE LLP do not provide sgiemtesRéase see www.deloitte.com/about to learn more about
our global network of member firms.

© 2019 Deloitte LLP. All rights reserved.



Deloitte.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A companydés internal control over financi al reporting is a proce
the reliability of financial rep orting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles. A companyé6s inter
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maint enance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly

reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that

transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial stat ements in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance

with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance reg arding
prevention or timely detection of wunauthorized acquisition, use,

a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

Material Weaknesses

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such

that there is a reasonable possibility t hatanmalarinterenrfinaacial mi sst at em
statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The following two material weaknesses have been
identified and included in management's assessment: i) the design of the control over the appropriate re -translation

of foreign currency intercompany loans at each reporting period, and ii) the design of the control over the key inputs
and assumptions used in the valuation of an embedded derivative.

These material weaknesses were considered in determining the nature, ti ming, and extent of audit tests applied in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018, of the Company, and

this report does not affect our report on such financial statements.

/s/ Deloit te LLP

London, United Kingdom

March 6, 2019



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF (LOSS)EARNINGS

Year Ended Decembei31,

In thousands of U.S. Dollars (except per share and share amounts) Note 2018 2017 *
Revenue 6,7 2,029,23¢ 1,312,31!
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization) 8 (459,164) (247,497
Gross profit (excluding depreciation and amortization) 1,570,07- 1,064,81¢
General and administrative 8 (984,194 (437,88¢)
Sales andnarketing (292,967) (154,35¢)
Research and development (39,995) (25,180
Operating income 252,92: 447,39¢
Net earnings (loss) from associates 1,06¢ (2,569)
Net financing charges 7,8 (363,889 (158,337)
(Loss) earnings before income taxes (109,899 286,49:
Income tax recovery (expense) 9 988 (27,20%)
Net (loss) earnings (108,90¢) 259,28t
Net (loss) earnings attributable to

Shareholders of The Stars Group Inc. (102,457) 259,231

Non-controlling interest (6,454 54
Net (loss) earnings (108,906 259,28t
(Loss) earnings per Common Share (U.S. dollars)

Basic 10 $ (0.49 1.77

Diluted 10 $ (0.49) 1.27
Weighted average Common Shares outstanding (thousands)

Basic 10 208,27( 146,81¢

Diluted 10 208,27( 203,70¢

* Certain amounts were reclassified in the comparative period. See. note 2

See accompanying notes.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)INCOME

In thousands 0f).S. Dollars
Net (loss) earnings
Items that are or may be reclassified to net (loss) earnings
Debt instruments at FVOGIloss in fair value *
Debtinstruments at FVOGH reclassified to net earnings *
Availablefor-sale investments gain in fair value **
Availablefor-sale investments reclassified to net earnings **
Foreign operations unrealized foreign currency
translation differences
Cash flow hedges effective portion of changes in fair value ***
Cash flow hedges reclassified to netarnings ***
Other comprehensive loss
Total comprehensive (loss) income
Total comprehensive (loss) income attributable to:
Shareholders of The Stars Group Inc.
Non-controlling interest
Total comprehensive (loss) income

Note

25
25
25
25

25
25
25

Year Ended Decembei31,

2018 2017

(108,906) 259,28¢
(286) —
(395) —

— 32,47¢

— (37,090)
(95,281) (189,017)
41,201 (151,31
(45,271) 160,06¢
(100,037) (184,870)
(208,93¢) 74,41F
(200,559 74,361
(8,38E) 54
(208,93¢) 74,41F

* Net of incometax recovery of $3,000for the year ende®ecember 31, 2018 (December 31, 2817kt of income tax expense of

$nil).

** Net of income taxf $nil for the year endeBecember 31, 201@ecember 312017- net of income tax of #0,380).
*** Net of income tax of §il for the year ended December 31, 2018 (December 31,-251lJ.

See accompanying notes.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at December3l,

As at December 31

In thousands of U.S. Dollars Note 2018 2017 *
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalentsperational 15 392,85:¢ 283,22¢

Cash and cash equivalentsustomer deposits 23 328,22: 227,09¢
Total cash and cash equivalents 721,07¢ 510,32
Restricted cash advances and collateral 15 10,81¢ 7,862
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 16 43,94~ 29,69t
Current investmentscustomer deposits 13,23 103,15: 122,66¢
Accounts receivable 14 136,347 100,40¢
Income tax receivable 26,08t 16,54(
Derivatives 19 — 2,037
Total current assets 1,041,42! 789,53¢
Non-current assets
Restricted cash advances and collateral 15 10,63C 45,83¢
Prepaid expenses and other foomrent assets 16 32,76( 26,551
Non-current accounts receivable 14 14,90¢ 11,81¢
Property and equipment 12 85,16¢ 44,837
Income tax receivable 15,611 14,061
Deferred income taxes 9 1,77E 5,141
Derivatives 19 54,58: —
Intangible assets 11 4,742,69¢ 1,672,14(
Goodwill 11 5,265,98( 2,805,21(
Total non-current assets 10,224,11. 4,625,59:
Total assets 11,265,53i 5,415,12¢
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and other liabilities 21 424,007 194,187
Customer deposits 23 423,73¢ 349,76¢
Current provisions 22 39,18¢ 17,59(
Derivatives 19 16,49: —
Income tax payable 72,79¢ 35,941
Current portion of longerm debt 17 35,75( 4,99C
Total current liabilities 1,011,97- 602,47
Non-current liabilities
Long-term debt 17 5,411,20¢ 2,353,57¢
Long-term provisions 22 4,002 3,09z
Derivatives 19 6,06¢ 111,762
Other longterm liabilities 21 79,71¢ —
Income tax payable 18,47: 24,271
Deferred income taxes 9 580,697 16,51C
Total non-current liabilities 6,100,16- 2,509,22:
Total liabilities 7,112,13¢ 3,111,69!
EQUITY
Share capital 24 4,116,28 1,884,21¢
Reserves 25 (469,629 (142,340
Retained earnings 502,76 561,51¢
Equity attributable to the Shareholders of The Stars Group Inc. 4,149,41¢ 2,303,39¢
Non-controlling interest 3,981 33
Total equity 4,153,40( 2,303,43:
Total liabilities and equity 11,265,53! 5,415,12¢

* Certain amounts were reclassified in the comparative period during the three months ended June 30, 2018. See note 2.

See accompanying notes.

Approved and authorized for issue on behalf of the Board on March 6, 2019.
(Signedi Di vy esh ( D,®iveetgr (Signedii Davi d

Divyesh (Dave) Gadhia, David Lazzarato,

Executive Chairman of the Board

L @Drectarr at 00

Chairman of the Audit Committee of the Board



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the yearsreded December 31, 2018 apdl17:

Share Capital

Equity
attributable
to the
Common Preferred Common  Preferred Shareholders Non-
In thousands of U.S. Dollars, Shares Shares Shares Shares  Reserves Retained of The Stars  controlling Total
except share numbers Note  number number amount amount (note 25)  earnings Group Inc. interest equity
Balancei January 1, 2017 145,101,127  1,139,24¢ 1,178,40: 684,38¢ 35,847  302,28¢ 2,200,92: 804 2,201,72¢
Net earnings — — — — — 259,231 259,231 54 259,28t
Other comprehensive loss — — — — (184,870 — (184,870 — (184,870)
Total comprehensive income — — — — (184,870 259,231 74,361 54 74,41F
Issue of Common Shares in
relation to stock options and 24
equity awards 2,923,18¢ — 21,92t — (5,25¢) — 16,66% — 16,66¢
Share cancellation 24 (76,437) — (493) — 493 — — — -
Stockbased compensation — — — — 10,62z — 10,62z — 10,62z
Deferred tax on stockased
compensation — — — — 359 — 359 — 359
Acquisition of norcontrolling
interest — — — — 467 — 467 (825) (358)
Balancei December 31, 2017 147,947,87. 1,139,24¢ 1,199,83: 684,38% (142,340 561,51¢ 2,303,39¢ 33 2,303,43:
Adjustment on adoption dFRS
9 — — — — 213 43,69 43,907 — 43,907
Balance- January 1, 2018
(restated) 147,947,87.  1,139,24¢ 1,199,83: 684,38t (142,127 605,21:% 2,347,30! 33 2,347,33¢
Net loss — — — — — (102,457 (102,457) (6,454  (108,90¢)
Other comprehensive loss — — — — (98,107) — (98,101) (1,931) (100,037
Total comprehensive loss — — — — (98,101) (102,457 (200,557) (8,385  (208,93%)
Issue of Common Shares in
relation to stock options and 24
equity awards 1,791,86( — 38,04¢ — (6,982) — 31,06¢€ — 31,06¢
Conversion of Preferred Share 24
to Common Shares 60,013,511 (1,139,249 684,38t  (684,38%) — — — — d
Issue of Common Shares in
connection with acquired 24
subsidiaries 41,049,39: —  1,477,47¢ — — — 1,477,47¢ —  1,477,47¢
Issue of Common Shares in 24
connection with Equity Offering 18,875,00! — 690,35: — — — 690,35 — 690,35¢
Issue of Common Shares in
connection with market access 24
agreement 1,076,65¢ — 20,661 — — — 20,661 — 20,661
Issue of Common Shares in
connection with exercised 24
warrants 2,422,94. — 14,68¢ — (14,68¢) — — — o)
Stockbased compensation — — — — 12,80¢ — 12,80¢ — 12,80¢
Reversal of deferred tax on
stockbased compensation — — — — (359) — (359) — (359)
Equity fees 24 — — (5,419 — — — (5,413%) — (5,419
Reversal of 2014 deferred tax® 24 — — (3,747 — — — (3,747) — (3,747)
Acquisition of noncontrolling 5
interest in subsidiary — — — — (220,179 — (220,17¢) 12,33¢ (207,84%)
Balancei December31, 2018 273,177,24. — 4,116,28' — (469,629 502,761 4,149,41¢ 3,981 4,153,40(

* During the yeaended December 31, 2018, the Corporati@emanadjustment totaling %7 million to the amounts recognized in
common stock in respect of a previous reversal of deferred tax recognized through the consolidated statements oh@ass) earni

See accompanying notes.



CONSOLIDATED STATE MENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended Decembef31,

In thousands of U.S. Dollars Note 2018 2017
Operating activities
Net (oss) earnings (108,90¢) 259,28¢
Add (deduct):
Income tax (recovery) expense recognized in net earnings (988) 27,20¢
Net financing charges 8 363,88¢ 156,84:
Depreciation and amortization 8 282,80¢ 147,18¢
Stockbased compensation 25 12,80¢ 10,622
Acquisition of market access rights in connection with Eldorado 20,661 —
Unrealized loss (gain) on foreign exchange 25,33¢ (20,329
Unrealized (gain) on investments (673) (170)
Impairment (reversal of impairment) of property and equipment, intangible assets ar
assets held for sale 6,15€ (6,799
Net (earnings) loss from associates (1,06¢) 2,56¢
Realized loss (gain) on current investments and promissory note 2,727 (50,03¢)
Income taxes paid (41,117 (9,357)
Changes in nowgash operating elements of working capital 27 (9,40%) (3,801)
Customedeposit liability movement 7,637 (30,929
Other (19 2,301
Net cash inflows from operating activities 559,84« 494,60(
Investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of caabquired 5 (1,865,26:) (6,51€)
Additions to intangible assets (28,207 (2,899
Additions to property and equipment (33,959 (10,997
Additions to deferred development costs (51,574 (23,212)
Netsale of investments utilizing customer deposits 19,51¢ 117,10¢
Cash movement from (to) restricted cash 35,00( —
Settlement of promissory note — 8,084
Net investment in associates 1,06€ (2,000
Proceeds on disposal of interest in associate classified as held for sale — 16,127
Sale of investments — 88,76(
Settlement of minimum revenue guarantee (7,00€) (9,31))
Other (3,760 (1,29¢)
Net cash (outflows) inflows from investing activities (1,934,17)) 174,85(
Financing activities
Issuance of Common Shares 24 717,25( —
Transaction costs on issuance of Common Shares (32,317 —
Issuance of Common Shares in relation to stock options 24 31,06¢ 16,66¢
Redemption of SBG preferred shares 5 (663,407 —
Repayment of shareholder loan on acquisition 5 (10,879 —
Issuance of longerm debt 17 5,957,97t —
Transaction costs on loftgrm debt (36,55¢) (4,719
Repayment of londgerm debt 17 (2,974,39) (139,919
Repayment of longerm debt assumed on business combination 5 (1,079,729 —
Interest paid (186,167) (124,62)
Net proceeds on loan from naontrolling interest 17 31,73(C —
Payment of deferred consideration 22 (197,510
Settlement of derivatives 19 (125,827) 13,90«
Acquisition of further interest in subsidiaries 5 (48,240 —
Settlement of margin — (7,602)
Capital contribution from nowontrolling interest 17 12,06(
Net cash inflows (outflows) from financing activities 1,592,57¢ (443,807)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 218,25( 225,64¢
Unrealized foreign exchange difference on cash and cash equivalents (7,497) 16,991
Cash and cash equivalentbeginning of period 510,32 267,68¢
Cash and cash equivalentsend of period 721,07¢ 510,32¢

See accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. NATURE OF BUSINESS

The Stars Group |Inc. (“The Stars Group” or the “Corpiweg ati
entertainment industries, entertaining millions of customers across its onlinanégllaymoney poker, gaming and bettingpduct
offerings. The Stars Group offers these products directly or indirectly under several ultimately owned or licensed gaelatgdnd
consumer businesses and brands, including, among oftuks;Stars PokerStars Casino, BetStars, Full Tilt, Betgasky Bet,Sky
Vegas Sky CasinpSky Bingo Sky PokerandOddscheckeras well as live poker tour and events brands, includind?therStars

Pl ayers No Li mit  (Horbpdad Boker TohiRokersSiars Gasiibéap Adventyteatin American PokeTour, Asia
Pacific Poker TourPokerStars FestivadndPokerStars MEGASTACK

As at December 31, 2018, The Stars Group thaeer e por t abl e segment s, the internatio
Kingdom business (“Undttreal iKdi mghwam”"ne asnd( tAwstArual i a”), each
center (“Corpor dourena)) orThemesamnd wpetrati ons within the -Cor
money online pomemrey “dProlkiené )hetrredamgy (O mBleitne ngaddi, no egamd ng
other gamingelated revenyeincluding, without limitation, from social and plagoney gaming, live poker events, branded poker
rooms, Oddschecker and other nonai | sources of revenue (“ Ot her dnlinerevesue indudes e | .
revenueggener at ed t hr ou g hmohdy enlin€ anobgecandadésktap clierd platfognas| as applicable.

The Stars Gr oup dsnaipsourceaf reyenue is issiontine gamin@buisinesses. These currently consist of the operatior
of Stars Interactive Holdings (1 OM) Limited and i ichstaguireds i d i

in August 2014( t he * * Stars I nteractive Group Acquisition’’ ), t he
affiliates (collectively, “Sky Beatuy2018gt hée GaSB G gA'c qouri s'iStBiG'n)”
Pty Ltd (formerly CrownBet Holdings Pty Limited) and its subsidiaries and affiliates, including TSGA Holdco Pty Limited (formerly
William Hill Australia Holdings Pty Ltd) and its subdy di a

“Bet Easy” ), wiB0ehuityirttereat i hetmiean Eabruaay?018 and April 2018 (BetEasy acquired TSEA 2018)
(collectively, the “Australi an headpuarteseihtthe sla of ' Man.andTopaes gBltallyr s |
SBG isheadquartereth and primarily operates in the United Kingdom; and BetEase&quartereth and primarily operates in
Australia.

The International segment currently includes the Stars Interactive Group business, and opesatedl dines of operations and in
various jurisdictions around the world, including the United Kingdom, under the brands identified above in this notenitethe U
Kingdom segment currently consists of the business operations of Sky Betting & Gamiadinipdhose outside of the United
Kingdom, and operates across all lines of operations primarily in the United Kingdom; and the Australia segment cusisiglpiton
the business operations of BetEasy, and operates within the Betting line of opepoimanily in Australia under thBetEasybrand.
Prior segmental results for the year ended December 31, 2017 have been recast to be presented in a manner consiskemtgeith the
reporting segments. See note 7.

The Stars Group was incorporated denwary 30, 2004under the Companies Act (Quebec) and continued under the Business
Corporations Act (Ontario) on August 1, 2017. The registered head office is located at 200 Bay Street, South Toweh,Jigterz20
Ontario, Canada, M5J 2JBomanShatestpmamoe Ishated ¢H Come Tor o

symbol “TSGI”, and the Nasdaq Gl obal Select Market (“Nasda
For reporting purposes, the Corporation prepares its consolidated financial statemeS8tsdollaks. Unless otherwise indicated, all

dollar (“%$”) amounts and references to “USD” or “USDar$” i
References to “*'EUR"’ or “€” are to$"Euarogetamm CGanmadi,anm ed elrle
or “£” are to British Pound Sterling and references tal *“A
references to a specific “not e’ ncial sthtementstofothe tCargomton fordhe gear ehded t
December 31, 201&Ref erences to “I FRS” and “1 ASB” are to I|Internati

Accounting Standards Board, respectively
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCO UNTING POLICIES
Basis of Accounting

The Corporation’s consolidated financial statements teeme b
approved and authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors on March 6, 2019.

The conslidated financial statements of the Corporation have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except derivative finan
instruments, financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss as well as financial instruments at fair valle attesug
comprehensive income, each of which are measured at fair value.
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On January 1, 2018, the Corporation adopted the provisioRmancial Instrumentg “ | F RS RevVehue faom dContracts with
Customerg “ 1 FRS 15" ). See not eciesinreftiogtathesd adaptions ara deaiedibelow. ng pol i

As previously announced, in response to chaitgéise businesfollowing the Australian Acquisitions (as defined below and further
detailed in note 7), and to align with financial measures commaeg in the industry, the Corporation made certain reclassifications
during the second quarter to the comparative interim condensed consolidated financial statements to enhance theirtgomitbarabili
the current period’ s pcatiers bavebaen made to theCcomparatigetbalamdes im teecdnsokdatéd fiinancia
statements for the year ended December 31, 2018. As a result, certain line items have been amendegardtieecoomsolidated
statemendf earnings and financial positicand the related notes to the consolidated financial statements. These reclassifications al
outlined below:

Consolidated Statemesf (Loss)Earnings

The followingfinancial statement lindems which the Corporation first introduced during the secqpunalter of 2018, resultad a re
classification of the comparative peridgst of revenuéexcluding depreciation and amortizatip@yoss profi{excluding depreciation
and amortization) an@perating income.

1 Cost of revenugexcluding depreciation araimortization)includes direct costs associated with revegemerating activities
such aghe followingmaterial items:

- Gaming duty (£30.8million for the year ended December 31, 2017), previously reported separately.

- Processor costs §9.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2017), previously reported within General and
administrative expenses.

- Royalties (80.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2017) and affiliates co8t& fdillion for the year ended
December 31, 201Ayvhich are directly related to revenue generating activitiespeediously reported within Selling
costs.

1 The following materiaéxpense categories have been categorized as follows
- General and administrative expenses now also include the following:

A Foreigh exchange &8 million loss for the year ended December 31, 2017) and bank chaf@snifion for
the year ended December 31, 2017), previously reported within Financial expenses.

A Gain on investmenti certain equity instrument&$33.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2017),
previously reported separately@ain from investments.

- Sales and marketing:

A Selling expenses remain as reported in previous periods, except as described above.
- Research and development:

A Previously reported whin General and administrative expenses and now reported separately.
- Net financing charges:

A Financial expenses remain as previously reported, except for thsimcofinvestment income &9million for
the year ended December 31, 20Ipfeviouslyreported separately on the consolidated statesvenioss)
earningzand as noted above).

Consolidated Statemesuf Financial Position

The following reclassifications to the comparative period, which the Corporation first made during the geaded of 2018, include
the following:

1 Current assets: Prepaid expenses and depogisd(@illion as at December 31, 2017) and InventorigaI$nillion as at
December 31, 2017) were reported separately in previous periods and are now reponeBrejtaid expenses and other
current assets.

1 Non-Current assets: Prepaid expenses and depossS@illion as at December 31, 2017), Long term investmenfsO($
million as at December 31, 2017) and Investment tax credits receiv&@hlaer(flion as at December 31, 2017) were reported
separately in previous periods and are now reported within Prepaid expenses and etherentassets.

1 Current Liabilities: Accounts payable and accrued liabilitiekb($5million as at December 31, 2017) and Other payables
($42.7million as at December 31, 2017) were reported separately in previous periods and are now reported within Accour
payable and other liabilities.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
There werano material relassifications to the comparative period.
Going Concern

The Board of Directors of the Corporation (the “Boar da”) I
reasonable expectation that the Corporation haguede resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. As
such, the Corporation continues to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated finaecitl. statem

Principles of Consolidation

A subsidiay is an entity controlled by the Corporation. As such, the Corporation is exposed, or has rights, to variable retums from
invol vement with such entity and has the abil it yeletantachitiése c t
(i.e., control over the entity).

The existence and effect of substantive voting rights that the Corporation potentially has the practical ability tdiexestibstantive
rights) are considered when assessing whether the Corporatittnls another entity.

The Corporation’s consolidated financi al stat ement sidationc!| ud
management eliminated all intentity transactions and balances.

Non-controlling interestsinswi di ari es are identified separ at e lcgntrdlingdnterestsh e
that are present ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets upon liquidatigellynbg init
measured at favalue oratthenecn ont r ol I i ng interests’ proportionate share ¢

The choice of measurement is made on an acquidiffeacquisition basis. Other narontrolling interests are initially measuratifair

value. Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount otoatrolling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition
plusthenocont rol ling interests’ share of subseq tébuddtondrmntrgllimg i n
interests even if this results in the roontrolling interests having a deficit balance.

Upon the |l oss of control of a subsidiary, t he Cor p@thafdri on’
value of the consideration received and of any investment retained in the former subsidiaryttamgr@yious carrying amount of the
assets (including any goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary and amgowinolling interests.

RevenueRecognition

The Corporation has applied IFRS 15 from January 1, 2018 eAwitted, the Corporatioapplied IFRS 15 using the modified
retrospective approach, whereby the cumulative impact of adoption is recognized in opening retained earnings. Carfgranatioe

for 2017 has not been restated. See notdid.adoption of IFRS 15 did not have a material impact on the timing and amount of revenue
recognizedvy the Corporation andhé Corporation did not apply thevailable optional practical expedients.

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized avanen ¢
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Corporation expects to be entitled in exchange for those se@ugparaten
has concluded that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements because it controls the services before transfertimg¢hstomer.

The Corporation has disclosed disaggregated revenue recognized from customers and revenue fnolimetmivities in note 7.

The Company evaluates all contractual arrangements it enters into and evaluates the nature of the promised goodsnd sigiises,
and obligations under the arrangement, in determining the nature of its performancioobli§fihere such performance obligations
are capable of being distinct and are distinct in the gbofehe contract, the consideration therporationexpects to be entitled under
the arrangement is allocated to each performance obligation basedrelatite estimated staralone selling prices. Performance
obligations thathe Corporation concludes are ndistinct are combined together into a single combined performance obligation.
Revenue is recognized at an amount equal to the transaction lfroeeeal to the specific performance obligation when it is satisfied,
either at a point in time or over timas applicablgbased on the pattern of transfer of control

T h e Co nmypircipayarrangements include the following sources of revenue:
Revenudrom customers within the scope of IFRS 15
Poker revenue

Poker revenue represents primarily the commission charged at the conclusion of each poker hand in cash games (i.entrgke) and
fees for participation in poker tournaments, and is net of cgntaimotional expensewhich are treated as a reduction to the transaction
price In poker tournaments, entry fee revenue is recognized when the tourmaseonncluded

Gaming revenue

Gaming revenugrimarily represents the difference between the amaafritets placed by customers less amounts won (i.e., net house
win) and is presented net of certain promotional expenbah are treated as a reduction to the transaction. @3&ming transactions
are instantaneously settled and revenue is recognizedant in time.
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Poker andsamingeach consist of a single revenue performance obligation, notwithstahdimgpactcustomer loyalty programes
notedbelow. Revenue is recognized at a point in time upon completion of the performance obligation as noted above. Pokeigand Gar
are each presented as revenue gross of applicable gaming duties, whiglsemeegd within cost of revenue

Conversion margins

Revenue from conversion margins is the revenue earned on the processingrafiregldeposits and cash outs in specified currencies.
Revenue from customer cross currency deposits and withdrawals is recognized when the transaction is complete atimepoint in
Revenue is recognized with reference to the underlying arrangement and agreement with the players and representensamgie per
obligation and is recorded within the applicable line of operations.

Other revenudrom customers

Play-money gamingevenue- Customers can participate in online poker tournaments and social casino games usimgnphayor

virtual currency. Customers can purchase additionatplagey chips online to participate in the poker tournaments and social casino
games. Theavenue is recognized at a point in time when the customer has purchased such chips as control has been transferred 1
customer and no further performance obligations exist. Once a customer has purchased such chips thesfiardatde and nen
cancelable.

Other- The Corporation sponsors certain live poker tours and events, uses its industry expertise to provide consultancy and sup
services to the casinos that operate the events, and has marketing arrangements for branded poker roomscaticersoarmlnd the
world. The Corporation also provideastomers with acce$s odds comparisons, tips and other information to assist with beditnalg
providesother mediaand advertisingervices and limited content developmesgrvices with revenugenerated by way of affiliate
commissions, revenue share arrangements and advertising income as appleadmele is recognized upon satisfying the applicable
performance obligationst a point in timer over time as applicable

Revenue from customeisut of the scope of IFRS 15
Betting revenue

The Corporation’s income generated from Betting prod@rant of
these online transactions is disclosed as revenue although these transactioosusntedis derivative instrumenis accordance with
IFRS 9 wherdghe incomamees the definition of gains or losses, as applicable.

Betting revenugrimarily represents the difference between the amounts of bets placed by customers less amduetsngbhouse
win). Open betting positions are carried at fair value, and gains and losses arising on tHese positecognized in revenue.

Betting is presented as revenue gross of applicable gaming duties, whicbsamted within cost of reveau
Customer loyalty programs

The Corporation operates loyalty programs for its customers within each of its reporting segments that reward custoroera based
number of factors, including volume of play, player impact on the overall ecosystem, whethkydreis a net withdrawing or net
depositing player, and product and game selection. For customer loyalty programs operated by the Corporation, apptigable reve
received for which loyalty rights earned by our customers are recorded as a contractlighi based on the rewa
and are subsequently recognized as revenue in a future period when the rewards are redeemed. Customer loyalty relwdeds are inc
in accounts payable and other liabilities on the consolidated statements offipasdion.

The estimated selling price of loyalty rewards is determined using an equivalent cash cost approach which uses histdraahctit
redemption patterns considering the alternative goods or services for which the rewards can be redeesi@tated selling price of
rewards is adjusted for an estimate of rewards that will not be redeemed based on historical redemption patternsy Historicall
redeemed loyalty rewards have not been significant.

Other sources of revenue
Income from playefunds

A portion of customer deposits is held as current investments. Income generated from current investments and dormasbegcounts
not fall within the scope of IFRS 15. Income generated from investments is disclosed as dmapite beingaccounted for in
accordance with IFRS 9 where it meets the definition of gains or losses, as applicable.

Income (loss) from dormant accounts

When a customer deposit account becomes dor mant ismmoxedraomr d a
customer liabilities and recorded within accounts payable and other liabilities. Income is generated from dormant atcrent®th
expected to be ractivated based on historical information anécévation rates. Losses are recatd& dormant accounts that are re
activated. Income (loss) generated from dormant accounts is disclosed as omspitgebeingccounted for in accordance with IFRS

9 where it meets the definition of gains or losses, as applicable.
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Cost of Revenue

Cost d revenue includes direct costs associated with revenue generating activities. Such direct costs include gaming doty, proce
costs, and royalties. Cost of revenue does not include depreciation and amortization.

Financial Instruments

The Corporationapplied IFRS 9 retrospectively from January 1, 2018. In accordance with the practical expedients permitted under tl
standard, comparative informatiéor 2017 has not been restated. As permitiedtFRS 9, the Corporatioglected to continue to apply
thehelge accounting requirements of | Ritapcialdnsttumentd 41l ASc 8®UNt irmg
new requirements of IFRS 9 and will comply with the revised annual hedge accounting disclosures as required by the rela
amendments to IFRS Fjnancial Instruments: Disclosurds“ | FRS 7 ")

For further information regardingeéhimpact of the adoption of IFRS 9, see note 4.
Financial Assets
Recognition and Measurement

At initial recognition, the Corporation measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financal mssstuned at
FVTPL (as defined belw), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. From January 1, 201
the Corporation classifies financial assets into one of the following measurement categories:

1 Those to be measured subsequently avfarl ue t hrough profit or |l oss (“FVTPL"
1T Those to be measured subsequently through other compr el
1 Those to be measured at amortized cost.

The classification depends on t he Cor psetsant theocantractuabterss ohtleecash n
flows. Except in very limited circumstances, the classification may not be changed subsequent to initial recognitionpporago@or
only reclassifies debt instruments when its business model for managings$isete changes.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends onowt he
characteristics of that asset. There are three measurement categories into which thdddoefzmsifies its debt instruments:

1 Amortized cost: debt instruments are measured at amortized cost if they are held within a business model with thefobjective
collecting the contractual cash flows and those cash flows solely represent paymemtsipdilpand interest. A gain or loss
on a debt instrument that is subsequently measured at amortized cost and is not part of a hedging relationship isimecognize
profit or loss when the debt instrument is derecognized or impaired. Interest incomedsendé¢bt instruments is recognized
using the effective interest rate method. Cash, restricted cash and accounts receivable are classified as amortized cost.

1 FVOCI: debt instruments are measured at FVOCI if they are held within a business model witbdtieeodsj either collecting
the contractual cash flows or of selling the debt instrument, and those cash flows solely represent payments of principal :
interest. Movements in the carrying amount are recorded in other comprehensive income, with imgaimsent losses,
interestincomeand foreign exchange gains or losses recognized in profit or loss. When the debt instrument is derecognize
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profitBonldss
recorded within current investments are classified as FVOCI.

1 FVTPL: debt instruments that are not solely payments of principal and interest are classified and measured at FVTF
irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteriaefor idstruments to be classified at amortized cost or at
FVOCI, as described above, debt instruments may be designated at FVTPL on initial recognition if doing so eliminates,
significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch. A gain or loss on a debtrestrthat is subsequently measured at FVTPL
and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognized in profit or loss and presented in the consolidated statersshts of (Ic
earnings. Funds recorded within current investments are classified as FVTPL.

Equityinstruments

The Corporation subsequently measures all equity instruments at fair value, except for equity instruments for whichtkegdity me
accounting is applied. The classification of equity instruments depends on whether the Corporation hasrreadeadnd election at

the time of initial recognition to account for the equity instruments at FVOCI. There are two measurement categorieshitie whi
Corporation classifies its equity instruments:

1 FVOCI: equity instruments are classified as FVOCI anrstrumenty-instrument basis when the conditions are met based
on the nature of the instrument. Where the Corporation’
and losses on equity instruments in other comprehensive intoene is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss upon the derecognition of those instruments. Dividends from such instruments continue to leelrecogni
in profit or | oss when t heatisGstablsled. dheiCorporat®n doés gdi ¢currently hotd any e
equity instruments classified as FVOCI.
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1 FVTPL: equity instruments are classified as FVTPL if they are held for trading (they are acquired for the purpose off selling
repurchasing in the neterm) or equity investments which the Corporation had not irrevocably elected to classify at FVOCI.
Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVTPL are recognized in the consolidated statements of (loss) eatpings. Eg
in unquoted companies is skified as FVTPL.

Impairment of financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Corporation assesses on a ftoaldand basis the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortized cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether teara has be
significant increase in credit risk. The impairment provision recorded in respect of debt instruments carried at ansbdizé Fe@CI

is determined at tfhonths expected credit losses on the basis that the Corporation considers these insisuaveniska

The Corporation applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9 for trade receivables and other financial assatsdrgbat
cost, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognized from initial recognition of the receivables.

The forwardlooking element in determining impairment for financial assets is derived from comparison of current and projecte
macroeconomic indicators covering primary markets in which the Corporation operates.

Financial Liabilities
Recognition and measement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as either financial liabilities at FVTPL or other finaraidldm

1 FVTPL: Financial liabilities are classified as FVTPL if they are held for trading or are designated as FVTPihitiglo
recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that wot
otherwise arise or the financial liability is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis. Anyoga@ss or |
arising on remeasurement are recognized in the consolidated statements of (loss) eBeringsive instrumats, the deferred
contingent payment and certain other level 3 liabilities (see note 26élpasified as FVTPL.

1 Other financial liabilites: Financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction
costs. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest methodivéhe effec
interest method caltates the amortized cost of a financial liability and allocates interest expense over the relevant period. Tt
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expectednidacithe fi
liability (or a shorter period where appropriate) to the net carrying amount on initial recognitiortetiongebt is classified
within other financial liabilities and is measured at amortized cost.

Debt modifications

The Corporation may pursue amendments to itdiceggreements based on, among other things, prevailing market conditions. Such
amendments, when completed, are considered by the Corporation to be debt modifications. For debt repayable at parlitbakomina
costs, the Corporatioalected to accounbf such debt modifications as equivalent to repayment at no cost of the original financial
instrument and an origination of a new debt at market conditions. Resetting the debt to market conditions with the sdrae teade
same economic substance asrgishing the original financial instrument and originating new debt with a-plairyy lender at market
conditions. The transaction is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original debt instrument, which is derecogejziedezhd

by the amendededbt instrument, with any unamortized costs or fees incurred on the original debt instrument recognized as part of t
gain or loss on extinguishment.

For all other debt, the accounting treatment of debt modifications depends upon whether the modgfiadetsubstantially different

than the previous terms. The terms of an amended debt agreement are considered substantially different when eitiseauijtéice d
present value of the cash flows under the new terms, discounted using the originakdfftertdst rate, are at least ten percent different
from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original debt or (ii) management determines thextggkdoc

the terms of the amended agreement, such as a change in the enviiianmiéch a floating interest rate is determined, are substantially
different. If the modification is considered to be substantially different, the transaction is accounted for as an exéingoisthe
original debt instrument, which is derecognizedl aeplaced by the amended debt instrument, with any unamortized costs or fees
incurred on the original debt instrument recognized as part of the gain or loss on extinguishment. If the modificattmmésdeotd

to be substantially different, an adjoent to the carrying amount of the original debt instrument is recorded, which is calculated as the
difference between the original contractual cash flows and the modified cash flows discounted at the original effexsiveiatéth

the differenceecognizedn net financing changes on the consolidated statements of (loss) earnings.

Transaction costs

Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issuance of financial assets and financial (babdititsan
financial asset and financial liabilities that are classified as FVTPL) are added to or deducted from, as applicable, the fair value of t
financial instrument on initial recognition. These costs are expensed to financial expenses on the consolidated stafiless®nts of
earnings over the term of the relaiaterestbearingfinancial asset or financial liability using the effective interest method. When a
debt facility is retired by the Corporation, any remaining balance of related debt transaction costs is exfieasetht@xpenses in

the period that the debt facility is retired. Transaction costs related to financial instruments at FVTPL are expensedréten i
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Classification and impairment of financial assets other than derivatives prior to January 1, 20id&r IAS 39

Financi al assets are initially recognized -fotsafl@i"r ovalause
receivabl es” . The <classification depends on t hetheipespgcive e |
characteristics.

Fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at FVTPL are financial assets-fagltrading. A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for
the purpose of selling in the shderm or atherwise determined by management to be in this category. Financial assets classified ¢
FVTPL are measured at fair value with the realized and unrealized changes in fair value recognized each reportinghmeriod in
consolidated statements of (loss)réags. The Corporation assifiedcertainshortterm investmentss FVTPL as at December 31,
2017.

Availablefor-sale

Availablefor-sale assets are financial assets that are either designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categc
Such assets are included in other+eorrent financial assets unless management intends to dispose of thenl@ithamths of the

date of the consolidated statements of financial position. Financial assets classified as dwa#aldeare carried at fair value with
changes in fair value recorded in the consolidated statements of comprehensive (loss) incaseomterailabldor-sale assets is
calculated using the effective interest rate method and is recognized in the consolidated statements of (loss) earrarggclivén

fair value is determined to be significamtprolonged, the cumulative loss indeed in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

is reclassifiedas such and then recognized in the consolidated statements of (loss) earnings. Gains and losses realized on the dispo
availablefor-sale assets are recognized in the consolidaéeinsents of (loss) earnings. The Corporation classifies certain current and
noncurrent investments as availabde-sale.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments but which are not quotéidemaariet. All such
assets with maturities equal to or less than 12 months from the date of the consolidated statements of financial ptessifiedras
current assets, while those with maturities greater than 12 months from such date afedckssibrcurrent assets. Financial
instruments classified as loans and receivables are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently measured atcestnaostizgthe
effective interest method. The Corporation classifies accounts receivableoamdgary notes as loans and receivables.

Impairment

At the end of each reporting period, the Corporation assesses whether a financial asset or a group of financial agsatshoder
classified as FVTPL, is impaired. If there is objective evidene¢ ithpairment exists, the loss is recognized in the consolidated
statements of (loss) earnings. The impairment loss is measured as the difference between the acquisition cost antaithgalugent
less any impairment loss on that financial assetipusly recognized in the consolidated statements of (loss) earnings.

Derivatives

As permittel by IFRS 9, the Corporatiarlected to continue to apply the hedge accounting requirements of IAS 39 rather than the nev
requirements of IFRS 9 and will comply Wwithe revised annual hedge accounting disclosures as required by the related amendmen
to IFRS 7.

The Corporation uses derivative instruments for risk management purposes and does not use derivative instrumentsifer specul
trading purposes (exceptfdrer i vati ves with respect to the Corporation’s
scope of IFRS 9 but reported as revenue as discussed above). All derivatives are recorded at fair value in the cdasatiatesdos
financial position. The accounting for subsequent changes in fair value depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hec
instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. For derivatives not designated as hedging instrumamntsstine mesn

of those derivatives each period is recognized in the consolidated statements of (loss) earnings.

Derivatives may be embedded in other financial liabilities andfimamcial instruments (i.e., the host instrument). Embedded
derivatives are treated agparate derivatives when their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the he
instrument, the terms of the embedded derivative are the same as those ofadosamnldrivative and the combined instrument (i.e.,
the embedd® derivative plus the host instrument) is not Heldtrading or designated at fair value. These embedded derivatives are
measured at fair value with subsequent changes recognized in the consolidated statements of (loss) earnings.

A derivative embedded tiin a hybrid contract containing a financial asset host is not accounted for separately under IFRS 9. Tt
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to be classified in itsesndiftgncial asset at FVTPL.
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Hedge accountig
The Corporation designates certain derivatives as either:

1 hedges of a particular risk associated with the cash flowsaafgnizedassets and liabilities and highly probable forecast
transactions (cash flow hedges), or

1 hedges of a net investment in a€ign operation (net investment hedges).

At inception of the hedge relationship, the Corporation formally documents how the hedging relationship meets the hetigg accou
criteria. It also records the economic relationship between the hedged item haddheg instrument, including the nature of the risk,
the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge and the method that will be used to assessrbgssaifetitve
hedging relationship at inception and on an ongoing basis.

Cash fow hedges

The Corporation uses derivatives for cash flow hedges. The effective portion of the change in fair value of the hedgiegtinstr
recorded in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the cash flow hedging reserve, while the ipeffeuiii®recognized
immediately in the consolidated statements of (loss) earnings. Gains and losses on cash flow hedges accumulated irebtresicemp
(loss) income are reclassified to the consolidated statements of (loss) earnings in the sditieep@dged item affects the consolidated
statements of (loss) earnings. If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the hedge no longer me@dehaedige
accounting, the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated @isexdror the designation is revoked, the hedge accounting is
discontinued prospectively. If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, then the amount accumulatgdsin equit
reclassified to the consolidated statements of (loss) earnings.

Net investment hedges

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain or loss angliefmedg
relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognized in other comprehensive income amdiededwnder the heading cumulative
translation adjustments reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognized immediately in tbatednsol
statements of (loss) earnings. Gains and losses accumulated in other comprehensigeanecoeclassified to the consolidated
statements of (loss) earnings when the foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold.

Determination of fair value

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a lakifitpriderly transaction between market
participants at the applicable measurement date. When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Cogmratidketis
observable data to the extent possible. If the fair value of an asset oiity imbibt directly observable, it is estimated by the Corporation
using valuation techniques that maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservabtg,ibguts (e
the use of the market comparable approach that refliecent transaction prices for similar items, discounted cash flow analysis, or

option pricing models refined to reflect the Cor poctesticsaln’ s
the asset or liability that market piaipants would take into account.
For the Corporation’s financi al i nstruments which @=salue the ec o

fair value measurements are categorized based on the lowest level input thaficaisida the fair value measurement in its entirety
and the degree to which the inputs are observable. The significance levels are classified as follows in the fair \@iye hierar

Level 1— Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identicatsass liabilities;

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly c
indirectly; and

Level 3—Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are recognized by the Corporation at the end of the reporting perddaiuri
the transfer occurred.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, bank deposits astiatiterm highly liquid investments with maturities of three
months or less, which are generally used by the Corporation to meeteshotiquidity requirements.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the leasestrhstgtially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leaséZofploeationassessed all its leases to be operating leases.
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The Corporation as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognized on a sthiaiglitasis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset antlae@gtriighltine
basis over the lease term.

The Corporation as lessee

Rents payable under operating leases are recognized as an expense on dirsrh@gis over the term of the relevant lease except
where another more systematic basis is moreesgmtative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are
consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognized as an expense in the period in which tirezl; are incu

In the event that lease incentives areeived to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognized as a liability. The aggrega
benefit of any such incentive is recognized as a reduction of rental expense on alstealifgdis over the lease term, except where
another systematigasis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Prepaid Expenses and Deposits

Prepaid expenses and deposits consist of amounts paid in advance or deposits made for which the Corpoeatdrewgbods or
services.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment which have finite lives are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment kcsgisnDepr
is expensed from the month the particular asset is available for use, over the estimated useful life of such dsfletvndghmtes,
which in each case are intended to reduce the carrying value of the asset to the estimatedalesidual

Furniture and fixtures Straightline  4-10years
Computer equipment Straightline  2-5 years
Building Straightline 25 years

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets which have finite lives are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment lossesoriortizat
expensed from the month the particular asset is available for use, over the estimated usefuthfassfet at tHellowing rates, which
in each case are intended to reduce the carrying value of the asset to the estimatedaksdual

Software technolog{including deferred Straightline 5 years
development costs)
Software technolog{Defensive intangible asset Straightline 2 years

Customer relationships Straightline 15 years

Brands (licensed) Straightline 22 years

Brands N/A Indefinite useful life
Other intangibles Straightline 4-10 years

The amortization methodseful life and residual values are assessed annually and the assets are tested for impairment, whenever ev
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Upon retirement or disposal, the cost of the asset didpoband the related accumulated amortization are removed from the
consolidated statememnbf financial position and any gain or loss is reflected in the consolidated statemeidsspearnings.
Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are expensedeied.

The Corporation determined that its owned brands have indefinite useful lives as they have no foreseeable limit tooter pdriod
such assets are expected to contribute to t hecoriouetp suppartiiso n
brands with ongoing marketing efforts.

The Corporation tests its owned brands for impairment at least annually, or more frequently if circumstances sucteas daptiifies
in expected sales, net earnings or cash flows iteliteat the casyener ati ng units (“CGUs”) to w
impaired.

Goodwill

Gooduwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired ;e uisitios.
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
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Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually, or more frequently if circumstances such as significant declineteth sdps,
net earnings or cash flows indicdtet that the CGUsr group of CGUgo which goodwill is allocated might be impairethe
Corporation monitors and testsafwill for impairmentat the operating segment level.

Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensed erceasds where development costs meet certain identifiable criteria for deferral.

Deferred development costs, which have probable future economic benefits, can be clearly defined and measured, ard &e incurr

the development of new products or techgag, are capitalized. These development costs, net of related research and developme
investment tax credits, are not amortized until the products or technologies are commercialized or when the asset foavadaht

which time, they are amortideover the estimated life of the commercial production of such products or technologies.

The amortization method and the life of the commercial production are assessed annually and the assets aremjesiedefur
whenever an indication exists thatasset might be impaired.

The Corporation claims research and development investment tax credits as a result of incurring scientific researchrardagxper
development expenditures. Research and development investment tax credits are recognizedeldted tvegpenditures are incurred
and there is reasonable assurance of their realization. Investment tax credits are accounted for by the cost reductibeneteytibd
amounts of tax credits are applied as a reduction of the expense or deferrednenttaysts.

Investments
Investments are stated at the lower of cost and fair market value. Cost is determined on a weightdubaiseageconsolidated level.
Investments in Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Corporationsigrgficant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint
venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the assasiatd the
control or joint control over thogmlicy decisions.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these consolidated financial statementsuityimgetoe af
accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it ieddooum accordance with IFRS Spn
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially recognized in the consolidated statements of fiitéorcit past

and adjustedthesef t er t o recognize the Corporation’s share of the p
the Corporation's share of losses of an associate exceeds the Corporation's interest in that associate (which inchggiesnany lo
interests that, in substance, form part of the Corporation's net investment in the associate), the Corporation discontiiiziag recog
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognized only to the extent that the Corporation has incurredolegtaliative
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee becomds.a@mssocia
acquisition of the investment in an associate, amgsx of the cost of the investment over the Corporation's share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate is recognized as goodwill, which is included within theazaoyirigf the
investment. Any excess of theof@oration's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognized immediately in the consolidated state(t@#geafnings in the period in which the
investment is aguired.

The requirements of IAS 3@mpairment of Asset§ “ 1 AS 36" ) are applied to deter mine

i mpair ment l oss with respect to the Corporation’s idithestn
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higteeinaisal

and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount, any impairment loss recognized forms peargfitigeamount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognized to the extent that the recoverable amount of the in\eEstmesritiu
increases.

Impairment of Non-Current Assets

Management assesses, at the end of the reportiitglpehether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication
exists, or when annual i mpairment testing for an a#édsetsbest
or CGU’' s recoveer ahbilgeh eamoountt hies atshset’' s or CGU’'s fair wvalue
carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is writtes down t
recoverable amount.

In assessig value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value usiag digreunt rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair vatuefldsposal,
recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuaiosedotbése
calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded esropanther available fair value
indicators.
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The Corporation bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations, which are prepared foicthe €d i 0
assets or CGU to which such assets are allocated. These budgets astldaledlations generally cover a period of three to five years.
A long-term growth rate is calculated and applied to project future cash flows after the final year included in the forecast.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognized iedhsolidated statements @6ss) earnings in expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset. An impairment loss recognized for goodwill may not be reverseddAff the en
reporting period, the Corporation assesses if thereiigdézation that impairment losses recognized in previous periods for other assets
have decreased or no longer exist. Where an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the carrying amount of the asset or C(
increased to the revised estimate of itouecable amount provided that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carryin
amount that would have been determined hadnpairment loss been recognized in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognizedmmediately in profitor loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of t
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred taxes. Current andtabederegd recognized in the consolidated
statements dfloss)earnings, except to the extent they relate to items recognized in the consolidated statements of comgiad®nsive
income or directly in theonsolidatedgstatements of changes in equity.

Current tax

Current tax payable is based on taxable income for the year. Taxable income differs from earnings as reported in taged@¢onsolid
statements dfloss)earnings because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other jtearns Hrat are never
taxable or deductible. The Corporation’s |iabil it ybstdntively c ur
enacted by the end of the particular reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognized acne mpor ary di fferences between the carrying a
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable income. Delslitied @velia
generally recogniztfor all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differenc
to the extent that it is probable that taxable income will be available against which those deductible temporary difierbradgize.

Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized if the temporary difference arises from the initial redagotievilloor

from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in adratisatctiffects neither the
taxable income nor the accounting earnings.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with investments and interesigviie sainsid
associates, except where the Corporation istaldentrol the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differeiated asgo

such investments and intetesre only recognized to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable income agains
which to utilize the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of defed tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no lon
probable that sufficient taxable income will be available to allow all or part of any such asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabéds are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
the asset is realized, in each case based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enadted the the en
reportingperiod. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow fromn the mar
in which the Corporation expects, at the end of the particular reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying dsassetsfand
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax asseis fayditesx
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authoritg &utoration intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted. Current and defereeddaizarkin the
consolidated statements @bss) earnings, except when they relao items that are recognized in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognized in other comprehensive income iaredjrett]y
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax afizen the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included
in the accounting for the business combination.

Share based payments

The Corporation maintains an equligsed longerm incentive award program to align interests ofrigiagement team with those of

its Shareholders by focusing the management team ortéomgobjectives over a muljiear period, with the value of the award
fluctuating based on stock price appreciation. The Corporatiotwasquity-based award plarend accounts for grants under these
plans in accordance with the fair valbased method of accounting for stdzksed compensation for the applicable period. The
Corporation currently makes its equity grants under its Equity Incentive Plan dated JAn@ 225 (t he “ 2015 Equi |
which provides for grants of stock options (“Optionsanie Re
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Share Units (“PSU”), Restri ct e dbased awvardssabe(BbarRIStiay determined Prior ttohthes r
Corporation’s 2015 annual shar ehol debasednawads wereggraitedrsaely ‘Urtiér the
Corporation’s 2010 stock option pl an, asanameanndde dt ofgreotnh etri mei
l ncentive Plan, the “Plans”) and consisted only of iOpPlah,ons

but it remains in effect only to govern the terms of outstanding Options grargetbpthe date of the 2015 Annual Meeting.

Effective for 2017, the Corporation replaced the stock option component of thefomgncentive program for its management team
with a regular, annual grant progrdnatis comprised oPSUsandRSUs. The RSUs are subject to service vesting conditions and the
PSUs are subject to service, market and-manket vesting conditions. The Corporation also offers DSUs, RSUs and RS for members
of its Board of Directors.

Non-employee equitysettled shardased payments are measured at the fair value of the goods and services received, except where t
fair value cannot be estimated reliably. If the fair value cannot be measured reliabdynplmyee equitgettled shardased payments

are measured at thiair value of the equity instrument granted as measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterp:
renders the service. Stoblased compensation expense is recognized over the contract life of the options or the option settlement de
whichever is earlier.

Stock Options

Compensation expense for eqestgttled stock options awarded to participants under the Plans is measured at the fair value at the gre
date using the BlaeckcholesMerton valuation model and is recognized usinggiaeled vesting method over the vesting period of the
options granted. Stodkased compensation expense recognized is adjusted to reflect the number of options that have been estimate
management for which conditions attaching to service will be fdfills of the grant date until the vesting date so that the recognized
expense corresponds to the options that have vested-I&ieeldl compensation expense is recorded in the equity reserve when the
expense is recognized in the consolidated statemef(lizssjearnings. When options are exercised, any consideration received from
participants as well as the related compensation cost recorded within the equity reserve are credited to share capital.

Other equitysettled share based payments
Restricted Shar&nits

An RSU is a unit equivalent in value to a Common Share which entitles the holder to receive Common Shares after aespiecjfied v
period determined by the Plan Administrator of tdiseeticd.Qpoh Eq
settlement, holders will receive one fully paid Common Share in respect of each veste@edR8tally, the RSUs vest in equal annual
installments over threeor four-yearperiod (graded vesting methodhdsubject to continuedmployment through each vesting date

Performance Share Units

A PSU is a unit equivalent in value to a Common Share which entitles the holder to receive Common Shares based omtkatachieve
of performance goals established by the Plan Administrattciyding in consultation with management, over a performance period.
Generally, the PSUs vest on the third anniversary of the date of the grant (cliff vesting), and based on a weightedemiye Gfre
Adjusted EBITDA targets of the Corporation for thpplicablethreeyear performance period as well as the individual remaining
employed by, or continuing to provide services to, the Corporailtne gr ant ee i s el igible for add
up to50%of the PSUs grantedonthger ant dat e, subject to an additional total
to the extent the other service and performance conditions are met. The Additional PSUs have semiagkeat@md market (i.e., the

TSR Condition) vestig conditions, all of whiclmustbe satisfied to vest

Upon settlement, holders will receive fully paid Common Shares in proportion to the number of vested PSUs held andthe level
performance achieved. Any unearned PSUs will be forfeited.

DeferredShare Units

The Corporation offers DSU grants to the members of the Board. Upon settlement, holders will receive one fully paid Canemon Sh
in respect of each vested DSU. The Corporation recognizes services received inbasbdgayment transactionaasexpense over

the requisite service period and recognizes a corresponding increase in equity as the services are received. DSUsatelt anmedi
over either a one two- or threeyear period. The grant date is the date on which the Corporation ariréttors have a shared
understanding of all the terms and conditions of the arrangement. If the grant date occurs after the service commeactraenhdat
Corporation estimates the graddte fair value of the DSUs for the purpose of recogniziagipense from the service commencement
date until the accounting grant date. All grants are subject to forfeiture if the director ceases to serve as a direxteegting and
vested DSUs can only be settled at such time.

Restricted Shares

An RS is afully paid Common Share that is subject to restrictions on transfer and a risk of forfeiture for a period of time, and whic
shall be held by the Corporation or its designee in escrow until such time as the restricted period lapses. The Plaatéshaillst

have the authority to determine at the time of grant, the duration of the restricted period and other restrictions apfiieabdtricted
Common Shares. Except for the restrictions applicable to the restricted Common Shares, during ted pestad, the holder shall

have all the rights and privileges of a holder of Common Shares as to the restricted Common Shares, including theeighll to vo
previouslyoutstanding R¥ested and were settleldring the year ended December 31, 2017.
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With respect to RRRSUs, PSUsand DSUs,he Cor por ati on do e s n’dividends duning thet vesying pexiqd.e c t
Therefore, the fair méet value of a RSRSU, PSU or DSU is equal to the market price of the underlying Common Share ranthe g
date. On the grant date, the fair value of the awards is measured using the closing TSX stock price, or the closingddgsaaifst

the Common Shares are not traded on the TSX. The fair market value of the Additional PSUs is determinethudatgpna based
valuation to reflect the probability of the market condition being met. The service aimlanket conditions, do not affect the fair value

of the awards at grant date. Market conditions are reflected as an adjustment (discount) tal thetimiate of fair value at grant date

of the instrument to be received and there is noupuéor differences between estimated and actual vestingpduaarket conditions.

Sharebased compensation expense is recognized over the vesting period onsbédated statements @bss) earnings with a
corresponding increase to the equity reserve. Once the awesidand are settled withe counterparty, the related amount recorded
within the equity reserves is credited to share capital.

Dividend Equivalents

RS, RSUs, PSUs and DSUs may be credited with dividend equivalents in the form of add®mEUs, PSUs, DSUs and other
sharebased awards, as applicable. Dividend equivalents shall vest in proportion to the awards to which they relatdd&uth di
equivalents shall be computed by dividing: (i) the amount obtained by multiplying the amount of the dividend declaredi @ard pai
Common Share by the number RS, RSUs, PSUs, DSUs or other shaased awards, as applicable, held by the participarthe
record date for the payment of such dividend, by (ii) the highest closing price of the Common Shares on any stock exghafge on
the Common Shares are then listed on the date of grant, at the close of the first business day immediatelytelttiwitend record
date.

Provisions

Provisions represent liabilities of the Corporation for which the amount or timing of payment is uncertain. Provisicwgaizere

when the Corporation has a present legal or constructive obligation as a ressit @fents, it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are measured at tryzregehev
expected expenditures required to settle the obligation agiigcount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in provisions due to the passage of time is recogaiest accretion
within net financing chargesn the cosolidated statements @bss)earnings.

Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabities are possible obligations te&istenceof which will be confirmed by uncertain future events that are not wholly
within the control of the entity. Contingent liabilities also include obligations that are not recognized because thé¢icamotitve
measured reliably or because settlement is not plebAbcontingent liability is not recognized in tlsensolidatedstatements of
financial position. However, unless the possibility of an outflow of economic resources is remote, a contingent lidisdikysisd in
the notes.

Translation of Foreign Operations and Foreign Currency Transactions
Functional and presentation currency

IFRS requires entities to consider primary and secondary indicators when determining functional currency. Primary sr@icators

closely linked to the primary economic envirommén which the entity operates and are given more weight. Secondary indicators

provide supporting evidence to determine an entity’ medfitunct
should be used consistently, unless sigaift changes in economic factors, events and conditions indicate that the functional currency
has changed.

A change in functional currency is accounted for prospectively from the date of the change by translating all itenmeimtiuttitional
currencyusing the exchange rate at the date of the change.

Based on an analysis of the primary and secondary indicators, the functional currency of each of the Corporation adidriesssubs
have been determined. The functional currency of the Corporati@rDiN . The Corporation’s consol
presented in U.S. dollars.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the applicable functional currency using the exchange rates préaitiageomnft

the tansactions or valuation where items areaneasured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of sucl
transactions and from the translation at yead exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreigniesiaenc
recognized within general and administrative expenses.
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Group companies

The results and financi al position of the Corporatiroant’isons
presentation currency are translated i@ presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing exchangedatteain the
that statement of financial position;

(i) income and expenses for each staterobmet(loss)earnings and statement of other comprehergkigs)income are translated
at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions; and

(i) all resulting exchange rate differences are recognized in other comprehgrssyancome and are transferred to (fleiss)
earnings upon the sale or disposition of subsidiaries.

Business Combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. Under this method, the identifiable assets aliajuiliteisand
assumed, including contingent liabilities, are recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position at ttteie fagpe
values. Goodwill is recorded based on the excess of the fair value of the consideration transferred over theféirvdlle e Cor p o
i nterest in the acquiree’s net identifiable asset sovanthe t he
consideration transferred is immediately recognized in the consolidated statenferss)efrnings.

The consideration transferred by the Corporation to acquire control of an entity is calculated as the sum of the atafeigdion
values of the assets transferred, liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by the Corporatiory theltalimvalue of all the assets
and liabilities resulting from a deferred contingent payment arrangement. Acquisitibed costs are expensed as incurred.

Operating Segments

Segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reportngp ded t o t he Corporation’s
(“CODM" ) . The Corporation’s CODM <consi sts of its Chi ef E
Development Officer, as this group is responsible for allocating resour@gitassessing the performance of, the operating segments
of the Corporation.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Determining the carrying amounts of some assets and liabilities requires estimation of the effects of uncertain futore teesets
assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period. The following discussion sets forth key sources of estintadiomy atche
end of the reporting period, thaanagement believégve a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustrteetiie carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Goodwill impairment

At least annually, the Corporation tests whether goodwill is subject to any impairment in accordance with the applicatiegacco
policy set forth in note 2.

The Corporation applied judgment in the allocation of goodwill to the identifiedgasm er at i ng units (“CGU
Acquisition, the Corporation identified potential synergy benefits that management estimated would be realized in beythetienk

and United Kingdom CGUs and accordingly attributed a portion of the goodwill recognized from the SBG Acquisition to the
International CGUfor impairment testing purposes, given the synergies were taken into account when determining an approprie
purchase price. The annual recurring synergy benefit applicable to each CGU was calculated and the net present vatugrafghis
benefit to each CGU was used to allocate the appropriate proportion of goodwill accordingly.

The recoverable amount fany CGUor group of CGUss determined based on the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in
use. Both valuation approaches require management to use judgments and estimates. Goodwill impairment exists wheg the car
value of a CGlr groupof CGUsexceeds its recoverable amount. Estimates used in determining the recoverable amount include b
are not limited to expected cash flows, growdtes capitalexpendituregnd discount rates. A change in future earnings or any other
assumptions mahave a material impact on the fair value of the G@\group of CGUsand could result in an impairment loss. See
note 11.

Valuation of deferredcontingentpaymenton acquisition of noncontrolling interest

As part of the incremental acquisitionof 88%e qui ty i nterest in BetEasy, BetEasy’'s n
payment of up t&AUD 239 million in 2020, subject to certain performance conditions primarily related to its EBITDA, and payable in
cash and/ or additional Common Shares at The Stars Grocap’s

contingent considationand accounted for it as part of the purchase price related to the acquisitioh&#thagquity interest in BetEasy.
Thedeferred contingent paymestsubsequently recorded at fair value at each balance sheet date;méthsirements recordedmin
net financing charges in tliwnsolidatedstatemergof (loss)earnings. In valuing thdeferred contingent paymeas at December 31,
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2018, the Corporation used a discount raté@8%, consideringthe term of thedeferred contingent paymepériod and credit risk.
The Corporation applied a volatility of historical EBITDA for comparable companie®5#, which wasbased on historical
performance and market indicatoBee notes 5 and 26.

Uncertain tax positions

Determining the Corporations i ncome tax and its pr ovi s tdegree ofestmation and jotget, t a x
particularly in respect of open tax returns relating to prior years where the liabilities remain to be agreed withtthedatzdrities.

The Corporationis also subject to tax authity auditsand has aumber of open tax enquirie&s a result, it hasecognizeda number

of provisions against wuncertain tax positions that akngieto r ec
consideration all available evidence, and where appropriate, after taking external advice. The tax provisions recorded in
Corporation’s consolidated financi al statement s iamangeraentp e cC t
entered into in the normal course of business and tax audits that rmmatlgun progress with fiscaluthorities. Due to the uncertainty
associated with such tax items it is possible that at a future date, on resolution of the operetax thmatfinal outcome may vary
significantly and there is the potential for a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the liability recordedlasfathes
estimation uncertainty.

Critical accounting estimates and judgments

The preparatiorof the Corporatiors consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptio
concerning the future. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in appl@iogpthation s account iimages p ol
andjudgments are continuoysévaluated and are based on historical experience, general economic caratitibtitends and other
factors, including expectations of future events.

Estimates and their underlying assumptions are reviewed on a regular bahis effelcts of any changes are recognized immediately.
Changes in the status of certain facts or circumstances could result in material changes to the estimates used inidheoptbpara
consolidated financial statements and actual results couddiff f r om t he Cor poration’s esti mat

The following discussion sets fortthat managemeibpelieves to be thmost significant estimates and assumptions in determining the
value of assets and liabilities and the most significant judgments in apfiig@pp o r a taccountingspolicies.

Determination of purchase price allocations amt&ferred contingent payments

Management makes certaindgments and estimates in the recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities, including separatt
identifiable intangibles acquired as part of a business combinakiarther, management also makes judgments and estiinates
determining the value afeferred contingent paymerntsat should be recorded as part of the consideration on the date of acquisition
and chages indeferred contingent paymerdayable in subsequent reporting periotise deferredcontingent paymentlating to the
incremental acquisition of &kl8% equity interest in BetEasy déscussed above in key sources of estimation uncertaityn note 26.

Business combinations may result in the recognition of certain intangible assets, recognized at fair value, includitignived nof
software technology, customer relationships, below market significant contracts, and brandsntligdgpmied in the identification

of “identifiable” intangible assets which requir egaltights@atdt an
distinguish it from goodwill. Specifically, customer relationships recognizegspect of the SBG Acquisition and the Australian
Acquisitions are primarily in respect of napntractual relationships from which the acquired companies have a practice and history of
establishing contracts (i.e., customers that have previously engagsline gaming transactions and are expected to engage in future
online gaming transactions)

Key estimates made by management in connection with the measurement of acquired intangible assets relating to the 8&G Acquis
and the Australian Acquisitionscluded:

(i) Discount rates- The Corporation used discount rates ranging fréfnto 10%.
(ii) Attrition rates— The Corporation valued certain intangibles using estimated attrition rates rangingg/freoi 0%.

(iii) Technology migratios- The Corporation valued technology intangibles using estimated useful lige® @fyears based on
the planned migration towards newer developed technology.

(iv) Technology royalty rate The Corporation valued certain technology intangibles using royalty rates ranging2troarl 0%.
(v) Brand royalty rate- The Corporation valued brands using royalty rates ranging 2r&¥% to 5%.

(vi) Estimating future cash flows The Corporation considered historical performance and industry assessments among othe
sources in the estimation of the cash flows. Significant estimation uncertainty exists with respect to forecasting and grow
assumptions used in the valuation ofimgibles.
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Acquisition of BetEasyi Control assessment

The Corporation acquiredG2% equity interest in BetEasy on February 27, 2018, and a furerequity interest on April 24, 2018.

As is typical, the shareholders agreement entered intotlgtminority shareholders of BetEasy in connection with these transactions
includes a number of rights and protections for the minority shareholders in a@rtaimstances that are directly harmful to the
minority, including as it relates to signifidken changes t o business scope, materi al
judgment such minority shareholder rights are protective rights and the Corporation has control in accorddiRBS\BitBusiness
Combinations

Useful lives oflong-lived assets

Estimates are usedfoeach component of an asset’'s wuseful l'ife and is
limited to, the expected use of the asset and, in the case of intangible assets, where applittabteatprovisions that enable the
renewal or extension of the asset’s | egal or c on teated petiod afl I

future benefit of the intangible asset. Incorrect estimates of useful liviesresult in an increase or decrease in the annual amortization
expense and future impairment charges.

As noted abovethe Corporation acquiresignificant intangible asseta connection withthe SBG Acquisition andhe Australian
Acquisition. Managemenisedestimatesn determining the useful lives for these acquired intangible assets using inforragteding,
among other thinggjetails of the contractual terms, historical customer activity and attrition, forecasted cash flow information, anc
marketconditions and trends.

Debt extinguishment

The Corporation applied judgmentdeterminingvhether transactions related tol@ag-term debturing the period should be classified

as an extinguishment or modification of such debt. Theporation considers loAgrm debt that is prpayable with no significant
termination costs as being extinghéd whencontractual amendments are mads. discussed in note 17, on April 6, 2018, the
Corporation amended its lorigrm debt in connectiomwith the Australian Acquisitions and recorded the amendment as an
extinguishment for accounting purposes as the debt was repayable at par, and no termination costs were incurred.ZDa8ullyel 0,
Cor p or adviousfinst lien tggm bans were repdiin full and the transaction was recorded as an extinguishment for accounting
purposes. No termination costs were incurred upon repayment.

Recognition and valuation of embedded derivatives

The Senior Notes (as defined below) include certain embedded features allowing the Corporation to redeem the SenalioMirngs or

the holders to require a redemption of the Senior N@tke. Corporatiorapplied its judgment in determining whether tieattires
represent embedded derivatives required to be bifurcated from the carrying value of the Senior Notes, including iro rislation t
assessment of whether the features are closely related to the host contract (i.e., the Indenture (as definedeeiogvite Senior
Notes).The Corporatiomronsiders redemption features with fixed redemption prices oveiea séredemptiodatesas a single feature

for assessinwhether the feature is closely related to the host coniraetCorporatiomlsocorsiders embedded features with the same
underlying risk exposure (i.e., interest rate risk exposured @smbinedderivative instrument for measurement, presentation and
disclosure Certain features were bifurcated from the caugyalue of the Senior Notes. Managemasédestimatesincluding an
implied credit spread &.8%as at December 31, 2018,determining the fair value of the embedded derivatives. See notes 17, 19 and
26.

Functional currency

The Corporation’s worldwide operations expose the Cowhcbr at

are required to be translated into one currency f offoreignons c
currency translation policy is designed to reflect ¢HMHhe ec
functional currencies of the Corporation’s submiathinexalveamas ar

result of business combinations or expansions. The functional currency of an operation or subsidiary is the currendgnafythe p
economic environment to which it is exposed.

Following the SBG Acquisition and the Australian Acqtigsis,managemerdpplied judgment in determining the functional currencies

of the acquired subsidiaries and considered the impact of the acquisitions on the primary economic environment of rige acqui
subsidiariesTo determine the functional currenci@sanagement considered the currency that influences sales prices of the goods an
services provided by the operations and the currency that influences the costs incurred by the operations. Whereoashesesult
primary factors, the functional currgnwas not obviousnanagement examinasgcondary factors such as the currency in which funds
from financing are obtained, the currency in which cash receipts are retained and the levels of interactions with tbenpargnt
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Contingent liabilities

The Corporation reviews outstanding legal cases following developments in legal proceedings at each balance shealatatg, consi
among other things: the nature of the litigation, claim or assessment; the legal processes and potential level af tzerjadsdiction

in which the litigation, claim or assessment has been brought; the progress of the case (including progress after ttie date of
consolidated financial statements but before those statements are issued); the opinions or viewsoohkiard other advisors;
experience of similar cases; and any decision of thamao€or p
assessment.he Corporation assesses the probability of an outflow of resources to settlddhtarbas well as if the outflow can be
reliably measured. If these conditions are not met, no provision will be recorded and the relevant facts will be disclossihgent
liabilty. To t he extent that the Cor ptreflectsubsequers degetopnemssontieeretestualaottcomen
of any claim, its future consolidated financial statements may be materially affected, with a favourable or adverse ithpact on
Corporation’s business, fi maSeecnota28. condi tion or results of

3. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
New accounting pronouncements not yet effective
IFRS 16, Leases

In 2016, the IASB issued IFRS ll6ease “ 1 FRS 16" ) rlegséda“climy U7A'S) larind rel ated in
introduces a single lease accounting model for lessees thatrequbesbnance sheet recognition and
to recognizeright-of-use assets representing the right to useutiikerlying assets and a lease liability representing the obligation to
make lease payments. tkte commencement date of a lease, a lessee will measuprdbent value ah substance fixefuture lease
payments as rightf-use assets and lease lialekti Lessees will be required to recognize the interest expense related to recognizing th
lease liability and the depreciation expense on the-offase asset. IFRS 16 substantially carries forward éksokr accounting
requirements frontAS 17.

IFRS 16becameeffective for the Corporation on January 1, 28d9reporting periods after that dafehe Corporation intends to adopt
the standard by applying the requirements of the standard retrospectively with the cumulative effects of initial apptoatenhin
opening retained earnings as at January 1, 2019 using a modified retrospective approach with no restatement of the pemipdrativ

The Corporation will make use of the practical expedienilahla on transition to IFRS 16, that does notuieg|it toreassess whether

a pastcontract is or contains a lease. Accordingly, the definition of a lease in accordance with IAS 17 and related iotexpvidtat
continue to applytd h e Co r peasessentérad mto er moddibefore January 1029. The Corporation will also eleitt use the
exemptions praeided by the standard on lease contracts with durations of 12 months or less as of the date of initial application and 1
leases of underlying assets with low value. Under IFRS 16;oighseassets will be tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36.
This will replace the previous requirement to recognize a provision for onerous lease contracts. However, as a trartigiion pra
expedient, the Corporatigrlected to rely on the assessmeiwhether leases are onerous by applying IAP3a@yisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assatamediately before the date of initial application as an alternative to performing an impairment review.

In preparation for the firsime adoptionof IFRS 16, the Corporation hassocarried out an implementation projeghich has led
management to conclude thtaat the new definition in IFRS 16 will not change significantly the scope of contracts that meet the
definition of a lease for the Corgadion.

On initial application of IFRS 16, for all leases for which the Corporation is a lessee, the Corporation expects to eecighhafe
use asset in the range$%i4.0 million to $58.0 million and a corresponding lease liability in the rang®%%.0 million to $61.0 million
in the consolidated statements of financial position, initially measured at the present value of the future lease payments.

Subsequent to initial applicatiaf IFRS 16, there will be a decrease in rent expense and an increase in depreciation and net finan
charges. For sheterm leases and leases of lealue assets, th€orporation will opt to recogniza lease expense on a straigig

basis as permittedy IFRS 16. Fothe year ending December 3019, the corporationurrently expects ardecreaseo net (loss)
earningsin the form ofa reduction to operatingental expenses of betweet4®) million and $6.0 million and an increase in
depreciationexpenses obetween$12.5 million to $14.5 million, each as reported in general and administrative expenses on the
consolidated statements of (loss) earnings as well as an incraasergstaccretion expense tietweer$l.5 million to $.5 million
reported in net financing charges on the consolidated statements of (loss) earnings.

At the date of finalilmg these consolidated financial statememsnagerant are completing their revievagross certainon-material
contracts. Some of thesentracts may be identified as leasmder IFRS 16 and if so, the right e asset and lease liabilityay
increase accordinglys the corporation has no finance leases, there will be no impact as a result of the adoption ofwiER&4Bect
to thesame
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International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 23, Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatmen{sfil FRI C 23 0)

In June 2017, the IASB published IFRIC 23, effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Thetiotierpreta
requires an entity to assess whether it is probable that a tax authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment usedddo firepssel,

by an entity in its income tax filings and to exercise judgment in determining whether each tax treatment shookidbeed
independently or whether some tax treatments should be considered together. The decision should be based on whicloégpsoach pr
better predictions of the resolution of the uncertainty. An entity also has to consider whether it is prob#ideréhevant authority

will accept each tax treatment, or group of tax treatments, assuming that the taxation authority with the right to examoerds
reported to it will examine those amounts and will have full knowledge of all relevant infonmétien doing so.

The Corporation intends to adopt the interpretation by applying the requirements retrospectively with the cumulatioé ieffedts
application recorded in opening retained earnings as at January 1, 2019 using a modified reer@gprotich with no restatement of
the comparatig period. The Corporatn believes thathte adoption of the interpretation will not have a material impact to the
consolidated financial statements.

4, ADOPTION OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments

As referenced in note 2 above, the Corporation addpt®8 9on January 1, 201&s permittel by IFRS 9, the Corporatiaiected to
continue to apply the hedge accounting requirements of IAS 39 rather than the new reqsiiieRS 9 and will comply with the
revised annual hedge accounting disclosures as required by the related amendments FRS 7. mpact of t he Cor
to IFRS 9 is summarized below.

Classification of financial assets

As of January 1, 2018, management assessed which business models apply to the financial assets held by the Corporati@iand cla:
those financial assets into the appropriate IFRS 9 categories as follows:

Financial assetsJanuary 1, 2018 tmousands of U.S.  ayailable-for- Total financial
Dollars sale FVTPL FVOCI assets
Opening balance- IAS 39 129,65( — — 129,65(
Reclassification of bonds from Availabler-sale to FVOCI (115,349 — 115,34: —
Reclassification of funds from Availabfer-sale to FVTPL (7,045) 7,04t — —
Reclassification of equity in unquoted companies from Avaitabl

for-sale to FVTPL (6,981) 6,981 — —
Reclassification of equity in quoted companies from Availdbte

sale to FVTPL (281) 281 — —
Opening balance- IFRS 9 0 14,307 115,34 129,65(

Impairment of financial assets

The Corporation holds three types of financial assets subject to the new expected credit losses model applicable uaddollBRRS. 9
(i) Trade receivables carried at amortized cost; (ii) Debt instruments carried at FVOCI; and (iii) Other financial agsetatcar
amortized cost.

The Corporation was required to revise its impairment methodology upon adoption of IFRS 9 for each of these classealof finan
assets. The impact of the change in impairment methodology on the opening carrying amounts of these financial asspenargl the
balance of retained earnings is disclosed in the measurement of financial instruments table below.

The nature of the Corporation’s business does not glasér at
pursues an invément strategy that only permits highly liquid investments with reputable financial institutions.

Financial liabilitiesi debt modification

The Corporation was required to adjust the carrying amount of its existingdonglebt in respect of historitebt modifications upon
adoption of IFRS 9. The adjustment required in respect of each of the historic debt modifications was calculated agrnhe diffe
between the present value of the original contractual cash flows and the modified cash flowsedisaicthe original effective interest
rate. This differs from the treatment under IAS 39, which required an adjustment to the prevailing effective intereshealeaan
rather than an adjustment to the carrying amount.
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The impact of the change ireatment of historic debt modifications on the carrying amount ofterrg debt and the opening balance
of retained earnings is disclosed in the measurement of financial instruments table below.

Measurement of financial instruments

The table belowllustrates the result of adoption of IFRS 9 as of January 1, 2018, and the measurement impact on the respect
categories of financial instruments:

Measurement Category Carrying amount
Original New Original New oﬁggiﬁ;mree?;i;oe d
In thousands of U.S. Dollars (IAS 39) (IFRS9) (IAS 39) (FRS9) eamings

Bonds Availablefor-sale FVOCI 115,34: 115,34: 213

Funds Availablefor-sale FVTPL 7,04E 7,04= —

Equity in unquoted companies Availablefor-sale FVTPL 6,981 8,767 (1,78¢€)

Equity in quoted companies Availablefor-sale FVTPL 281 281 —
. Loans and .

Trade receivables receivables Amortized cost 112.22; 111,43t 792
. Loans and .

Cash and restricted cash receivables Amortized cost 564,01¢ 563,03; 981

Long-term debt Amortized cost Amortized cost (2,358,569 (2,314,67)) (43,894

(1,552,672 (1,508,76) (43,694

The Corporation has not designated any financial assets that meet the criteria for classification at amortized costasr FYTRLI
on initial recognition.Prior to the appliciion of IFRS 9, the Corporation did not have a material impairment allowance recorded in
respect of financial instruments. The adoption of IFRS 9 did not have a material impact on the impairment allowance recorded.

IFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers

As referenced in note 2 above, the Corporation adoptie® 15, Revenue from contracts with custonoerdanuary 1, 2018. The
adoption of IFRS 15 did not have a material impact on the timing and amourenfieerecognized by the Corporation.

The Corporatiommended the presentation and disclosure of total revenue as a result of the requirement under IFRS 15 to show reve
from contracts with customers separately from other sources of revenue. SeeNutigitBistanding the presentation and disclosure
requirement of IFRS 15 for total revenue, the Corporation presents disaggregated revenue disclosures within the segmatidal inf
note including details by segmentajor line of operatioand geographal region. See note 7.

5.  ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
BetEasy

As previously announced on February 27, 2018, a subsidiary of the Corporation ac@@¥eda@ntrolling equity interest in BetEasy,
which it increased to a80% controlling equity interest on April 24, 2018 as described below. Pursuant to a shareholders agreeme
(the “Sharehol ders Agreement”), the Corporation isemaddftl!| e
directors of BéEasy. The Corporation therefore obtained control through acquiring the majority equity interest in combination witt
such rights. The noeoontrolling interest in BetEasy is measured at the proportionate share of net assets of the subsidiary. T
Corporation believes the Australian Acquisitions provide the Corporation with a strong market position in Australia and creates ¢
opportunity for cost synergies.

In connection with th€2% equity interest in BetEasy, the Corporation entered into a put option deed with an exercise price equal to tl
purchase price of th@2% equity interest in BetEasy1$7.7 million (AUD$150.0million), plus interest. The put option was set to
expireon the earlier oFebruary 28,2016 r t he compl eti on of BetEasy’'s purchase ¢
described above). On expiration, tie@million mark to market of this put option previously recognized was derecognided@rded

in general and administrative in thensolidatedstatemergof (loss)earnings.

On April 24, 2018, the Corporation acquired a furth8% equity interest in BetEasy for a total consideration 2892 million,
comprising cash of48.2million (AUD$63.2million), newly issued Common Shares valued%8.8million, see note 24, and deferred
contingent payment valued 846 million (AUD$111.0million) at acquisition, which is included in other lotegym liabilities on the
consolidatecstatemertt of financial position. See note 26 for details regarding the valuation of the deferred contingent payment. T
finance the cash portion of the purchase price for the transaction, the Corporation obtained incremental financiotias partl

2018 Amend and Extend. In addition, a shareholder loan was issued to certaontrofling shareholders of BetEasyee notel7.

The acquisition of the additional equity interest in BetEasy had no impact on the fair values of the goddntdirgible assets acquired

on February 27, 2018; however, the excess of the total consideration compared to the carrying val@oafidneontrolling interest

was recognized directly in equity as acquisition reserve. See note 25.
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Also on April2 4 , 2018, in connection with t h8% Giresio BetEasy,dhe Caporationg U i
entered into a nenontrolling interest putall option in relation to th20% interest in BetEasy held by its minority interest shalaers,

with an exercise price based on certain future operating performance conditions of the acquired business. This was toelerained
non-controlling interest putall option with a variable settlement amount that can be settled in either cdsties or a combination of
both, and because the matll option does not clearly grant the Corporation with present access to returns associated with the remainil
20% ownership interest, the Corporation recognized thiscpllitoption as a net liabijitderivative. As at each of the acquisition date
and December 31, 2018, the Corporation determined that the fair value of thusmioolling interest derivative wéil.

The provisionabmountsrecognized in respect of the identifiable assetpuired and liabilities assumed upon acquisition of BetEasy
are set out in the table below:

In thousands of U.S. Dollars As at February 27, 2018

Financial assets 29,062
Property and equipment 6,07¢
Identifiable intangible assefaote 11) 102,40¢
Financial liabilities (59,327)
Deferred tax liability (19,449
Total identifiable assets 58,77¢
Non-controlling interest (956)
Goodwill (note 11) 59,88
Total consideration 117,707
Satisfied by:

Cash 117,707
Less: Cash and cash equivalent balances acquired (17,009
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition 100,70¢

The fair value of the financial assets includes receivables with a fair valde7ahiflion and a gross contractual value af.&million.
The Corporation’s best estimate at the acquBbnillionnon date of

Included in the amounts recognized is a deferred tax liabilitg ®#%nillion, comprised of a&6.1million deferred tax liability related
to acquired intangible assets as well as a deferred tax as$et afition wholly related to other temporary differences.

The main factors leading to the recognition of gwiticas a result of the acquisition are the value inherent in the acquired business that
cannot be recognized as a separate asset under IFRS, including future incremental earnings potential resulting from fur
di versi ficati on o fssgeographicaldyam the expansom of iss ordine eattingeproduct offerings. The goodwill is
not deductible for tax purposes.

The Corporation has not completed its assessment or valuation of certain assets acquired and liabilities assumednmittmitectio
acquisition. Therefore, the information disclosed above for identifiable intangible assets, financial assets, finalitéd &abli
deferred tax liability is completed on a provisional basis and is subject to change based on further esgemmutfons and if any new
information is obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date.

TSGA
On April 24, 2018, BetEasy acquiré80% of TSGA.
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The provisionahmounts recognized in respect of the identifiable assefsired and liabilities assumed are set out in the table below:

In thousands of U.S. Dollars As at April 24, 2018
Financial assets 41,14z
Property and equipment 2,04¢
Identifiable intangible assets (note 11) 267,34¢
Financialliabilities (71,029
Deferred tax liability (76,600
Total identifiable assets 162,91:
Goodwill (note 11) 78,29(
Total consideration 241,20:
Satisfied by:

Cash 241,20:
Less: Cash and caslguivalent balances acquired (32,352)
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition 208,85(

The fair value of the financial assets includes receivables with a fair valé.@idillion and a gross contractual value 8851 million.
The Corporation’s best estimate at the acquli6edmiiacnon date of

Included in the amounts recognized is a deferred tax liability 6f6#nillion, comprised of a #9.0million deferred tax liability related
to acquired intangible assets anddad$nillion deferred tax liability related to other temporary differences as well as a deferred tax asset
of $2.8 million wholly related to other temporary differences.

The main factors leading to the recognition of goodwill as a result of the acquisition are the value inherent in thebasméssdthat
cannot be recognized as a separate asset under IFRS, including future incremental earnings potential resuftintgefrom
di versification of the Corporation’s business geogooawlhs c al
not deductible for tax purposes.

Acquisitionrelated costs directly related to the Australian Acquisitions #&de5 million and were included within general and
administrative expens@s the consolidated statements(lafss)earnings.

The Corporation has not completed its assessment or valuation of certain assets acquired and liabilities assumedindtntiezti
acquisition. Therefore, the information disclosed above for identifiable intangible assets, financial assets, finalitied Haldi
deferred tax liability is completed on a provisional basis and is subject to change based on furthef emgamptions and if any new
information is obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisitiDuriiagethequarterended September 30,
2018, the Corporation made an adjustment totall® Bmillion as a reduction to the amots recognized as narontrolling interest
in relation to the acquisition of TSGA with a corresponding reduction to goodwiill.

During the third quarter, the Corporation substantially completed its migration and integration of TSGA into BetEasysulis a re
revenueand earnings cannot be attributed to the individual acquired entities for the period subsequent to the migration aod. integrat
On a combined basis, BetEasy contributd®@&9 million of revenue and a loss ofl&7 million to the Corportion for the period
between the respective dates of acquisition and December 31, 2018. BetEasy reveragn apdited in Betting revenire the
Australia segment. See note 7.

SBG

As previously announced, on July 10, 2018, the Corporation compiete8BG Acquisitiopacquiringl00% of SBG The Corporation
believes that thimcqui si ti on i mproves the Corporation’s revenue di
Corporation’s presence i n | dopsaspoltsybetting as & Isexdne@ adistomer acguasitian ¢aharmel ankl
creates an opportunity to cresse | | customers across multiple |ines of opel
technology.
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The provisional amounts recognized in respec¢hefidentifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are set out in the table below:

In thousands of U.S. Dollars As at July 10, 2018
Financial assets 416,35¢
Property and equipment 18,08¢
Identifiable intangible assets (note 11) 3,043,95:
Other financial liabilities (394,177
Derivatives (5,037)
Shareholder loans (663,407
Long-term debt (1,080,479
Preferred shares (10,879
Other norcurrent liabilities (1,453
Deferred tax liability (514,27%)
Total identifiable assets 808,69¢
Goodwill (note 11) 2,431,10(
Total consideration 3,239,79!
Satisfied by:

Non-cash consideration:

Common Shares Issued 1,381,04:

Cashconsideration:

Cash 1,858,75:
Less: Cash and cash equivalent balances acquired (304,057)
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition 1,554,69¢
Total consideration, net of cash acquired 2,935,74.

The fair value of théinancial assets includes receivables with a fair value® illion and a gross contractual value & @million.
The Corporation’s best estimate at the acgquObBbnillionon date of

Finarcial liabilities include assumed liabilities for logrm debt and shareholder loans payablelo®8billion and $63.4million,
respectively, SBG preferred shares #0®million. Included in derivatives are cresarrency swap and interest rate swap instruments
with an aggregate fair value of550) million. The Corporation redeemed the preferred shares and repaid theidondebt and
shareholder loans payable immedig upon closing of the SBG Acquisition. Subsequently during the quarter, the applicable cross
currency and interest rate swaps were settled m@teash payment of1$0 million.

Included in the amounts recognized is a deferred tax liabilp 4.3 million, comprised of515.7million deferred tax liabilityrelated
to acquired intangible assets addferred tax assebf $1.0 million related to plant and equipmesatd $.4 million related to other
temporary differences.

As at July 102018, SBG had future financial commitments for marketing, technology and IT contradtsOa2i$illion.

The main factors leading to the recognition of goodwill as a result of the acquisition are the value inherent in thebasmeéssdthat
cannot be recognized as a separate asset under IFRS, including future incremental earnings potential resulting from furt
diversification of the Corporation’s business g¢geoggaadothérc al
product offeringsthe ability to crossell across these product offeringad the ability to achieve cost synergies across the Corporation
The goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes.

Acquisitionrrelated costs directly related to the SBGyuisition were 82.8million and were included within general and administrative
expenses on the consolidated statementosd)earnings.

SBG contributed $94.1million of revenue and a loss 01$1 9 million to the Corporation for the period between the date of acquisition
and December 31, 2018. SBG revenue has been reported as part of the United Kingdom segment across all revenue dstegories
segmental reporting. See note 7.

The Corporation &s not completed its assessment or valuation of certain assets acquired and liabilities assumed in connection with
acquisition. Therefore, the information disclosed above for identifiable intangible assets, financial assets, finahted Aabli
deferred tax liability is completed on a provisional basis and is subject to change based on further review of assunmiptiopsiand
information is obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date.
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Other

During the yeareded December 31, 2018, a subsidiary of the Corporation also actdiPédf the equity interests two subsidiaries,
Publipoker S.R.L. and Keiem Ltd, for a total consideration, net of cash acquir@i6afilion, satisfied by cash consideratioh$1.0

million and deferred consideration of $ million. The balance outstanding on the deferred consideration as at December 31, 2018 i
$0.3 million.

If the above noted acquisitions had been completed on the first day of the fiy@acidh e Cor p or a tfor thenyea endee v e r
December 31, 2018 would have beéngbillion and netlossfor the year ended December 31, 2018 would have bEg@.@million.

The following tables shows acquired intangibles by asset class:

Software
Technology

Acquired

through

Business Other Customer Brands
In thousands of U.S. Dollars Combinations Intangibles Relationships Brands (licensed) Total
BetEasy 34,68¢ 10,90¢ 56,81¢ — — 102,40¢
TSGA 1,432 22,09¢ 243,82( — — 267,34¢
SBG 264,70¢ 13,66¢ 2,233,23! 22,44 509,89¢ 3,043,95:
Total 300,82¢ 46,66¢ 2,533,86¢ 22,447 509,89¢ 3,413,70!
6. REVENUE

Year Ended Decembei31,

In thousands of U.Dollars 2018 2017
Poker revenue 892,557 877,29¢
Gaming revenue 585,84¢ 334,781
Betting revenue 491,13¢ 49,231
Other revenue from customers 56,41¢ 34,15k
Other sources of revenue 3,277 16,85z
Total revenue 2,029,23¢ 1,312,31!

Revenudrom contracts with customers have not baetherdisaggregateds the nature of the revenue streams, contract duration and
timing of transfer of services are all largely homogenous. For fuitiiérmation regarding revenue, including segment revdiyue
major line of operations and geographic region. See note 7.

As & December 31, 2018, there ax@significant contract assets or liabilities armasignificant unsatisfied performance obligatiolrs.
addition there are no significant capitalized costs to obtain a contract.

7. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

As aresult of its previously announced Australian Acquisitions and SBG Acquisition, the Corporation revised the composstion of i
reporting segments and the manner in which it has reported its operating results beginning with the unaudited interia conden
consolidated financial statements for the second quarter of 2018. The Corporation believes that the new presentatitectseiter re
current and expected management and operational structure. Earlier periods have been presented in a mannertbahsisevised
segmentation. The segmentation reflects the way the CODM evaluates performance of, and allocates resources withissthe busine

The CODM considers the Corporation’s busi ness fpergpective. Givilg a
effect to the reporting segment changes, for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Corptima@egwthble segments:
International, United Kingdom and Australia, as well as a Corporate cost deatemue withirthese operating segments is further
divided into the Poker, Gaming, Betting and Other lines of operation, as applicable. The CODM receives geographic &nd lines
operation revenue information throughout the year for the purpose of assessing theiveeppéctimance. Certain costs are included
in Corporate. “Corporate” in itseltf is not a reporyofthg se
operating segments or relate to a corporate function (tax and treasury).

Further, each reporting segment incurs certain costs, which are not segregated among major lines of operations within egch repo
segment as they share the same office infrastructure, the same workforce and the same administrativeltesQomgesatiortannot
develop or produceeportsthatprovidethetrue costs by major lines of operations within each reporting seguithioiut unreasonable

effort or expense

33



The primary measure used by the CODM for the purpose of decision making and/or evaluation of a segment is Adjusted EBITDA. T
Corporation defines Adjusted EBITDA as net earnings before financial expenses, income taxes expense (recovery), dapdeciation
amortization, stoclbased compensation, restructuring, net earnings (loss) on associate and certain other items as set out in
reconciliation table below.

However, the CODM also uses other key measures as inputs, including, without limitation, remdncegpital expenditures, to
supplement the decisiemaking process.

Segmental net earnings for the year ended December 31, 2018:

Year Ended December3d1, 2018

Intercompany
United eliminations

In thousands of U.S. Dollars International Kingdom Australia Corporate ** Consolidated
Revenue 1,440,127 394,13! 196,93( — (2,000) 2,029,223t

Poker 886,62¢ 5,92¢ — — — 892,557

Gaming 428,36¢ 157,48 — — — 585,84¢

Betting 79,115 215,92: 196,10: — — 491,13¢

Other 46,06¢ 14,79¢ 829 — (2,000 59,69¢
Adjusted EBITDA (*) 700,88’ 99,96( 21,07z (40,970 — 780,94¢
Net financing charges — — — 363,88 — 363,884
Depreciation and amortization 144,30¢ 108,87¢ 29,47¢ 147 — 282,80¢
Capital expenditures 81,18¢ 18,971 12,38¢ 1,182 — 113,72¢
Segmental rteearnings for the year ended December 31, 2017:

Year Ended Decembe31, 2017
United Intercompany

In thousands of U.S. Dollars International  Kingdom  Australia  Corporate eliminations Consolidated
Revenue 1,312,31! — — — — 1,312,31!

Poker 877,29¢ — — — — 877,29¢

Gaming 334,78! — — — — 334,78!

Betting 49,231 — — — — 49,231

Other 51,007 — — — — 51,007
Adjusted EBITDA (*) 636,40 — — (36,09¢) — 600,30¢
Net financing charges — — — 158,33 — 158,33:
Depreciation and amortization 147,027 — — 159 — 147,18¢
Capital expenditures 35,93¢ — — 163 — 36,10z

* Adjusted EBITDA is usd internally by the CODM when analyzingderlying segment performance.

** The Corporation has excluded from its consolidated res@l&illion of Other revenue included in the International segment
related to certain negaming related transactiomgth the United Kingdom segment. A corresponding exclusion in the consolidated
results is recorded to sales and marketing expense in the United Kingdom segment.
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A reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to Net earnings (loss) is as follows:

Year Ended December31,

In thousands of U.S. Dollars 2018 2017
Consolidated
Adjusted EBITDA 780,94¢ 600,30¢
Add (deduct) the impact of the following:
Acquisitionrelated costs and deabntingent forwards (115,569 —
Stockbased compensation (12,806 (10,627
(Loss) gain from investments and associates (1,667) 33,59¢
(Impairment) reversal of intangibles assets and assets held for sale (6,223) 6,79¢
Other costs (108,95¢) (35,507)
Total adjusting items (245,22)) (5,72¢)
Depreciation and amortization (282,80¢) (147,186
Operating income 252,92 447,39¢
Net financing charges (363,889 (158,337
Net earnings (loss) from associates 1,06€ (2,569
(Loss) earnings before income taxes (109,899 286,49
Income tax recovery (expense) 988 (27,20¢)
Net (loss) earnings (108,90¢) 259,28¢

The distribution of

Total assets as at DecemiBér, 2018

Total assets as at December 31, 2017

The distribution of
region is agollows:

Corporation’s assets

reporting

United
International  Kingdom Australia Corporate
5,248,11! 5,430,11( 510,80¢ 76,50¢ 11,265,53:
5,398,39: — — 16,73/ 5,415,12¢

As at December3l,

<wremetassets (gdodwel, inGuogitdpsets aamd propenty and equipment) by geographic

In thousands of U.S. Dollars 2018
Geographic Area
Canada 66,83( 53,39¢
Isle of Man 4,346,59¢ 4,446,50:
Italy 30 35
United Kingdom 5,191,99: 6,511
Australia 456,42: —
Other licensed or approved jurisdictions 31,97z 15,744
10,093,84: 452218
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The rporation also evaluates revenue performance by geographic region based on the primary jurisdiction where the Corporatic
licensed or approved to offer, or offers through third party licenses or approvals, its products and $ee/fodlewing tables set out

the proportion of revenue attributable to each gaming license or approval (as opposed to the jurisdiction where thevas stoated)

that either generated a minimum 6% of total consolidated revenue for the year enBedember 31, 2IB or 2017, or that the
Corporation otherwise deems relevant based on its historical reporting of the same or otherwise:

Year Ended Decemberd1, 2018

United Intercompany
In thousands of U.S. Dollars International Kingdom Australia eliminations * Total
Geographic Area
Isle of Man 377,702 — — (2,000 375,702
Malta 497,12¢ — — — 497,12¢
Italy 156,94¢ 1,144 — — 158,09(
United Kingdom 73,96¢ 388,421 — — 462,39(
Spain 121,77¢ 86 — — 121,86:
Australia — 190 196,93( — 197,12(
Other licensed or approved
jurisdictions 212,65¢ 4,29C — — 216,94¢
1,440,17 394,131 196,93( (2,000 2,029,23t
Year Ended Decembe31, 2017
United Intercompany
In thousands of U.S. Dollars International Kingdom Australia eliminations * Total
Geographic Area
Isle of Man 378,71« — — — 378,71«
Malta 434,84¢ — — — 434,84¢
Italy 134,96¢ — — — 134,96¢
United Kingdom 71,55: — — — 71,55
Spain 83,42 — — — 83,42
France 61,132 — — — 61,132
Other licensed or approved
jurisdictions 147,68 — — — 147,68:
1,312,31! fo) o} o} 1,312,31!

* The Corporation has excluded from its consolidaésdiits £.0 million of Isle of Man revenue included in the International segment
related to certain negaming related transactions with the United Kingdom segment. A corresponding exclusion in the consolidate
results is recorded to sales and marketixigense in the United Kingdosegment.
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8. EXPENSES CLASSIFIED BY NATURE

Year Ended Decembei31,

In thousands of U.S. Dollars 2018 2017
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization)
Direct sellingcosts 99,64: 38,421
Gaming duty, levies and fees 268,851 137,95
Processor and other operating costs 90,66¢ 71,12¢
459,16¢ 247,497
General and administrative
Salaries and wages 285,23¢ 179,92¢
Legal and professional fees 84,28¢ 69,49¢
Impairment (reversal of impairment) of property and equipment, intangible assets
assets held for sale (note 11) 6,15€ (6,799
Loss (gain) on disposal afvestments and other assets 1,992 (32,999
Acquisitionrelated costs 54,20¢ —
Acquisition of market access rights in connection with Eldorado 20,661 —
Foreign exchange (gain) loss 68,40¢ 2,83¢
IT andsoftware costs 74,334 20,59¢
Other operational costs 106,10¢ 57,63:
Depreciation and amortization 282,80¢ 147,18¢
984,19/ 437,88¢
Net financing charges
Interest on longerm debt 186,72( 109,62«
Re-measurement of deferred contingent payment (342 —
Re-measurement of Embedded Derivatives 6,10C —
Ineffectiveness on cash flow hedges (14,909 —
Accretion expense 42,431 40,79:
Loss on debt extinguishment 146,95( —
Interest income (3,06€) 1,05€
Interest on deferred purchase price — 6,85¢
363,88/ 158,33:

1See notes 5 and 26 for details regarding the recognitiomaadurement of the deferred contingent payment.
2 See notes 17, 19 and 26 for details regarding the recognition and measurement of the Embedded Derivative (as defined below).

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Corporation recé&guchilion in indemnification proceeds from the sellers of Stars
Interactive Group for gaming duty, professional fees and taxes owed for periods prior to the Stars Interactive GrouprAddesit
amounts received from the sellers were classified as gathityg professional fees and income taxes. In addition, the Corporation
received a refund ofZb9 million in taxes and penalties from the Belgian tax authorities, and insurance indemnification proc@egls of $
million in respect ofutorité des marchémanciers (AMF) and othanvestigation professional fees. During the year ended December
31, 2018, the Corporation received an additior&aD$nillion in insurance indemnification proceeds in respect of Aafid other
investigation professional feesh& amount received from the Belgian tax authorities was classified as income taxes and the insuran
indemnification was classified as professional fees.

The Corporation participates in defined contribution retirement plans for all qualifying emplageeglicable across its segments.

The assets of the plans are hedgparaté r om t hose of the Corporation in f ypmddsrs und
The obligations of the Corporation are limited to make the specified contribirtiansordance with the plans. Included within salaries
and wages is%2 million recorded in respect of these plans
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9. INCOME TAXES

Details of income tax expense were as follows:

Year Ended Decembei31,

In thousands of U.S. Dollars 2018 2017
Current income tax expense 19,81: 9,391
Current income tax expense (recovergyovision true up (2,155) 21,92:
Deferred income tax recovery relating to the origination and reversal of tempoil

differences (17,977 (3,56¢)
Deferred income tax (recovery) experggovision true up (675) (538)
Income tax (recovery) expense (988) 27,20¢

The Corporation’s applicabl e Canadi aPnovirgidl aomhiried taxyrate far xthe pedad e
applicable in the jurisdiction within Canadwaheretheproencialteerate€C o r
is 11.5% andQuebec¢where the provincial tax rate isl.7%9 which resulted in a decrease @2%in the statutorytax rate in 2018
compared to the prior yeafhe Corporations primary operationgre previously irthe Isle of Man and Maltand subsequent to the
AustralianAcquisitiors andSBG Acquisition, are now alsin Australia and the United Kingdom. Income taxes reported differ from the
amount computed by applying the Canadian statutory rates to earnings before incorpeirteaddy due to differences in statutory
ratesacrossthe countries where the Corporatiomperates and where the Corpiima is incorporated, amongther factors.The
reconciliation is as follows:

Year Ended Decembei31,

In thousands of U.S. Dollars 2018 2017

Net (loss) earnings before income taxes (109,899 286,49:
Canadian statutory tax rate 26.5% 26.7%
Income taxes at Canadian statutory tax rate (29,127 76,49
Non-taxable income (9,030 (143)
Nonrdeductible expenses 34,81¢ 3,59C
Differences in effective income tates in foreign jurisdictions (97,919 (117,153
Deferred tax assets not recognized 103,09¢ 43,03t
Provision true up (2,830 21,38t
Income tax (recovery) expense (988) 27,20¢

The Corporation’s effective i ncome t0&8% (Decentber 31f 20%79.PohTde incarer e
tax recovery for the year ended December 31, 2018 inclu2ie8 fillion (December 31, 2017 nil) in relation to thancometax
recovery on the amortization expense of acquired intangible assets from the Australian AcqaisititiesSBG Acquisitian

The Corporation’s i nc cnledDecmbers3l, 20d&reimphcted liy the taxerecovery oenartization of
intangible assets and the geographic diversity of its taxable earnings. The Corporation expects that this will corttinei@énidas
following the Australia Acquisitions and the SBG Acquisition, which have operations primarily in kausind the United Kingdom,
respectively, where statutory corporate income tax rates are higher than the corporate income tax rates in the Islel datan an
where the Corporation primarily operated from prior to these acquisitions.

During the year eretl December 31, 2017, the Corporation received notification of a proposed tax assessment from the Canadian
authorities relating to transfer pricing. The proposed assessmentd@ariods prior to the Stars Interactive Group Acquisition
covering the Q03 to 2007 tax years. For the year ended December 31, 2017 the Corporation recorded a tax provision based on
proposed assessmefir both Federal and Provincial tax &f&5million including interestDuring the year ended December 31, 2018

the Caporation received the Federal and Provincial tax assessiuetisubmitted an objectionttee relevant authorities regarding the
same.The Corporatiorintendsto vigorously defend its position against the assessni@uatig the year ended December 3Q18 the
provision was reduced t@8.2million as a result of adjustments fioterest, foeign exchange movements angrepayment made in
relaton to the provincial assessment.
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Deferred Tax

Recognized defieed tax assets and liabilities

Significantc o mponent s of the

C o r passebalancecmbecesnbed 3 ,f2@18 aneé 201 7iassfalavmie t a X

Property &
In thousands of U.S. Dollars Equipment Intangibles Tax Losses Other Total *
At January 1, 2017 25 o} 139 976 1,14C
Credited to net earnings 131 — 170 3,37¢ 3,67¢
Credited to other comprehensive income — — — 146 146
Credited directly to equity sharebased payment
transactions — — — 359 359
Foreign exchange on translation — — (2) (13) (14)
At December 31, 2017 156 0 308 4,84¢ 5,31C
Reclassifications (8) — (134) (362) (504)
At January 1, 2018 148 0 174 4,484 4,80€
Credited (charged) to net earnings 41 — 1,051 (1,00¢) 84
Credited to other comprehensive income — — — 53 53
Charged directly to equitysharebased payment
transactions — — — (359 (359)
Acquisition of subsidiary 1,01€ — — 9,921 10,931
Foreign exchange on translation (61) — (34) (1,177) (1,272)
At December31, 2018 1,144 0 1,191 11,914 14,24¢
Significant components of the Corporation’s def efoltowsd i nc o me

Property &
In thousands of U.S. Dollars Equipment Intangibles Tax Losses Other Total *
At January 1, 2017 o) (17,300 0 0 (17,300
Credited to net earnings — 426 — — 426
Credited to other comprehensive income — 14 — — 14
Acquisition of subsidiary — (72) — — (72)
Foreign exchange on translation — 253 — — 253
At December 31, 2017 0 (16,679 0 0 (16,679
Reclassifications (45) 549 — — 504
At January 1, 2018 (45) (16,130 0 0 (16,17%)
(Charged) credited to net earnings (82) 15,52¢ — (513 14,93(
Acquisition of subsidiary — (620,79¢) — (465) (621,267)
Foreign exchange on translation 6 29,27¢ — 51 29,33t
At December31, 2018 (121) (592,12)) 0 (927) (593,179

* Deferred tars by category above are presented on a gross bhsistatements of financiabgition present defergetaxes net for
amounts included within the same jurisdiction.

Unrecognized deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the items shown below. The amounts shown are the gross temg
differences and to calculate thetential deferred asset it is necessary to multiply the amounts by the tax rates in each case.

As at December 31,

In thousands of U.S. Dollars 2018 2017

Tax losses 1,619,70: 1,293,84t
Other temporary differences 82,81« 19,561
Total deferred tax asset unrecognized 1,702,51¢ 1,313,41:

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of these items because it is not probable that future taxeibl®erofits

available in these jurisdictioragainst which the Corporation can utilize the benefit from them.

39



Included in tax losses not recognized as at December 31, 2018 are Canacdiapitadriax losses of1®9.2 million (December 31,
2017- $100.2million) that may be applied against earnings for ugQgearsfrom the end of theaar the losses were generase
the first year of expiry i2034for $13.9million of the carried forward tax losse€Bax losses also include foreign subsidinoyrcapital
losses of $.49billion (December 31, 2017 $1.19hillion) that may be applied against future yedrke majority of these losses of
$1.44 billion (December 31, 2017%$1.17 hillion) can be carried forward for up ®yearsirom theend of the year the tax losses were
generate@nd the first year of expiry B023for $401.5million of the carried forward tax losses

As aresult of exemptions from taxation (parate tax and withholding tax@pplicable to dividends from subsidiaries, there are n
significant taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates and jofatests in
arrangements and no material deferred tax lighdiises on unreried earninggotaling $1.87 billion (December 31, 2017 $1.13
billion).

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the computatiminbasic and diluted earnings per Common Share for the following periods:

Year Ended December3],

2018 2017

Numerator
Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per @mm Share net earnings (loss)
attributable to shareholders of The Stars Group Inc. $ (102,452,000 $  259,231,00
Denominator
Denominator for basic earnings per Common Skareighted

average number of Common Shares 208,269,90! 146,818,76.
Effect of dilutive securities
Stock options 1,371,17 558,99¢
Performance share units 246,81: 18,74¢
Deferred share units 7,59¢ —
Restricted share units 72,67: 17,07¢
Warrants 569,30« 717,79
Convertible Preferred Shares 32,231,30: 55,576,21.
Effect of dilutive securities * 34,498,86: 56,888,82!
Dilutive potential for diluted earnings per Common Share 208,269,90! 203,707,58
Basic earnings (loss) per Common Share $ (0.49) $ 1.77
Diluted earnings (loss) per Common Share $ (0.49) $ 1.27

* The effect of dilutive securities for instruments that resulted in the issuance of Common Shares during the years enserd3Decem
2018 and 2017 is included for the period during the applicable year prior to the issuance of the related Comson Share
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11.

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

For the year ended December 31, 2018:

Software
Technology
Acquired
In thousands of U.S. éhgsilr{n%r;s Customer Brands D(?vzfligaint Other
Dollars Combinations Relationships Brands (licensed) Costs Intangibles Goodwill Total
Cost
Balance- January 1,
2018 117,49: 1,423,71! 485,25 — 71,81¢ 18,71z 2,810,68: 4,927,67t
Additions 6,80¢ — — — 51,574 21,394 — 79,77¢
Additions through
business combination 300,82 2,533,86¢ 22,447 509,89¢ — 46,66¢ 2,571,35( 5,985,05!
Disposals (2,336) — — — — (550) (4,944 (7,830)
Translation (16,150) (110,219 (1,028) (23,345 (607) (3,830 (109,787) (264,959
Balancei December
31, 2018 406,63¢ 3,847,37( 506,672 486,551 122,78¢ 82,39¢ 5,267,30t 10,719,71i
Accumulated
amortization and
impairments
Balance-January 1,
2018 91,072 324,29: — — 20,107 9,384 5,471 450,32¢
Amortization 53,15¢ 172,24: — 14,34¢ 14,65¢ 11,76¢ — 266,17
Disposals (2,177) — — — — (550) (4,949 (7,665)
Impairment — — — — 4,17¢ 396 799 5,37%
Translation (911) (1,83€) — (269) (12) (138) — (3,16€)
Balancei December
31, 2018 141,14¢ 494,691 o) 14,077 38,92¢ 20,861 1,32¢€ 711,03¢
Net carrying amount
At January 12018 26,42( 1,099,42 485,25 — 51,712 9,32¢ 2,805,21( 4,477,35(
At December 31, 2018 265,49( 3,352,67. 506,672 472,47¢ 83,857 61,53 5,265,98( 10,008,67!
For the year ended December 31, 2017:
Software
Technology
In thousands of U.S. throﬁgguérjsdiness Customer Dg/?afligadent Other
Dollars Combinations Relationships Brands Costs Intangibles Goodwill Total
Cost
Balance-January 1, 2017 116,07¢ 1,423,71¢ 485,25 48,80¢ 15,672 2,810,68: 4,900,21:
Additions — — — 23,21z 1,892 — 25,10t
Additions through busines
combination 1,41% — — — — — 1,415
Reclassification — — — (201) — — (202)
Translation — — — — 1,14¢€ — 1,14¢€
Balancei December 31,
2017 117,49z 1,423,71¢ 485,25 71,81¢ 18,71z 2,810,68: 4,927 ,67¢
Accumulated
amortization and
impairments
Balance-January 1, 2017 61,163 229,37, — 9,832 5,79¢ 5,471 311,64
Amortization 29,90¢ 94,91¢ — 10,27¢ 3,162 — 138,261
Translation — — — — 424 — 424
Balancei December 31,
2017 91,072 324,29: o) 20,107 9,384 5,471 450,32¢
Net carrying amount
At January 1, 2017 54,91¢ 1,194,34. 485,25 38,97¢ 9,87t 2,805,21( 4,588,57.
At December 31, 2017 26,42( 1,099,42° 485,25: 51,712 9,32¢ 2,805,21( 4,477,35(
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Impairment Testing

During the year ended December 31, 2048 Corporation recognized impairment losses (classified in general and administrative
expenses) of48 million for deferred development costs and other intangilédated todiscontinueddevelopmenand other projects
within the International and United Kingdom segmeartd $.8million for Goodwillinc er t ai n o f tstbsidiaflesvithmo r a t
the International segme(@ecember 31, 2017$nil).

The Corporation performed an annual impairment test for its operations in connection with the preparation of its coffisalintédéd
statements for the year ended December 31, ZBA&dwill is monitored at the operating segment and this is consistérthe lowest
level of CGU except as noted below

As at December 31, 2018 As at December 31, 2017
In thousands of U.S. Dollars Goodwill Brand (Indefinite) Goodwill (|n3§flir:1(ijte)
International 2,806,48! 485,25 2,805,21( 485,25
United Kingdom * 2,333,47¢ 21,41¢ — —
Australia 126,01¢ — —
Total 5,265,98( 506,67 2,805,21( 485,25:¢

* The United Kingdom segment includes a +significant CGUwhichincludes the indefinite lived braras noted in the table above
The Corporation has not identified any impairment inti@teto the indefinite lived brand.

The recoverable amount of each CGU tested for impairment is determined from value in use calediatioaie categorized as Level

3 fair value measuresnd use discounted cash flow projectioftse key assumptions for the value in use calculations afattive cash

flow and growth projections (including estimates of future capital expenditdiespunt rates, and perpetual growth ratésnagement
estimates discount rates usimgsptax rateghat reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific tc
the CGU including economic risk assumptions and estimates of the likelihood of achieving forecasted cash flaw hespits tax
discount rate is then inferrday recalculation.The Corporation consideml range of reasonably possible amountsige for key
assumptions and appliasounts thatrepsee Nt management’'s best estimate of futur e

The Corporation prepares cash flow forecasts derived fromabkeracent financial budgets approved by management for the next five
years

1 For the International segment, the sixth year (2024) cash flow assumes a revenue growth8&tdefore a steady growth
rate 0f3.0%is applied to the perpetual net cdlstws.

1 For the UK segment, the sixth year (2024) cash flow assumes a revenue growth @ ludfore a steady growth rate of
3.0%is applied to the perpetual net cash flows;

91 For the Australian segment, the year five cash flow is steadily reduced across 2024 to 2028 from a revenue groiv@¥sate of
in 2024 to a perpetual growth rate0%applied to net cash flows from 2028 onwards to take into account known changes
int he segment’s customer base; and

The cash flow arediscounted based on tliiscount rates as presented below. The estimated perpetual growtlanetteasedon
independent country specific market reports for online gaming growth projections.

Thefollowing table shows key assumptions used in the value in use calculations:

Assumptions used in value in use calculation

International United Kingdom Australia
Discount Rate (préax) 11.2% 9.3% 14.1%
Discount Rate (aftetax) 11.C% 8.2% 10.5%
Perpetual Growth Rate 3.0% 3.0% 2.0%
Revenue Growth Rate 6.6%- 11.5% 4.0%- 13.4% 3.9%- 11.5%
AdjustedEBITDA Margin as % of Revenue 38.9%- 43.0% 26.9%- 30.5% 16.5%- 19.4%
CAPEX as % of Revenue 4.5% 4.5% 4.4%- 5.4%

Based on thempairment test performed, thecaverable amount of the CGUs wémeexcess otheir carrying amount and accordingly,
there isno impairment of the carrying value of the goodwill (except as noted above in respeat of cer t ain of th
subsidiaries)
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The Corporation believes that a reasonable change keytessumptions apigld to International would not causedtsrying valueto
exceedts recoverable amounts. With respect to the United KingdathAustraliathe recoverable amount exceeds the carrying amount
by $111 million and #52 million, respectively.The impairment assessment is highly sensitive to redsp possible changes in a
number of key assumptions in the value in use calculaliba.following table shows the changes to key assumptions used in the
impairment review that would be required for the carrying amount to equal the recoverable amount:

Change required for carrying value to equal recoverable

amount
United Kingdom Australia
pps pps
Discount Rate (préax) 0.1 4.7
Discount Rate (aftetax) 0.1 3.3
Perpetual Growth Rate (0.2) (8.9)
Revenue Growth Ratgcross the five year forecast (0.6) (5.4
AdjustedEBITDA Margin as % of Revenugcross the five year forecas (0.6) (4.0
CAPEX as % of Revenue 0.7 3.5

A combination of reasonably possible changes in assumptions as set out in the table abaesudbidnpairmentin either or both
of the United Kingdom and Australia.

12. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
For the year ended December 31, 2018:

Furniture Computer
In thousandsf U.S. Dollars and Fixtures Equipment Building Total
Cost
Balance-January 1, 2018 12,497 26,15¢ 23,92¢ 62,58(
Additions 11,28: 22,66¢ — 33,952
Additions through business combinations 24,58 1,64z — 26,22¢
Disposals (3398) (26) — (364)
Impairment (1,521 — — (1,521)
Translation (870) (634) (1,991) (3,495)
Balancei December 31, 2018 45,63: 49,80¢ 21,93 117,37¢
Accumulated depreciation
Balance-January 1, 2018 5,324 9,402 3,017 17,74:
Depreciation 7,682 7,96C 991 16,63:
Disposals (57) (12 — (69)
Impairment (954) — — (954)
Translation (528) (246) (372 (1,14¢)
Balancei December 31, 2018 11,467 17,10¢ 3,63€ 32,201
Net carrying amount
Balance-January 1, 2018 7,173 16,75¢ 20,911 44,837
At December 31, 2018 34,16¢ 32,702 18,301 85,16¢
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For the year ended December 31, 2017:

Revenue
Producing Furniture Computer
In thousands of U.S. Dollars Assets and Fixtures Equipment Building Total
Cost
Balance-January 1, 2017 84 9,35€ 18,621 21,60t 49,67:
Additions — 2,724 8,27¢ — 10,991
Disposals (84) (571) (1,257) — (1,906
Translation — 988 506 2,323 3,817
Balancei December 31, 2017 — 12,49i 26,15¢ 23,92¢ 62,58(
Accumulated depreciation
Balance-January 1, 2017 24 2,017 5,23¢ 1,592 8,872
Depreciation — 3,19¢ 4,764 963 8,92t
Disposals (24) (301) (860) — (1,185
Translation — 410 259 462 1,131
Balancei December 31, 2017 — 5,324 9,402 3,017 17,74z
Net carrying amount
At January 1, 2017 60 7,33¢ 13,38¢ 20,01z 40,80(¢
At December 31 2017 — 7,17% 16,75 20,911 44,831
13. INVESTMENTS
The Corporation held the following investments:
As at December31,
2018 2017
Carrying value & Carrying value &
In thousands of U.S. Dollars fair value fair value
Bonds— Available-for-sale — 115,34:
Funds— Available-for-sale — 7,04t
Equity in quoted companiesAvailablefor-sale — 280
Equity in unquoted companiesAvailable-for-Sale 6,981
Bonds— FVOCI 103,15: —
Equity in unquoted companies=VTPL (note 16) 6,773 —
Total investments 109,92¢ 129,64¢
Current portion 103,15 122,66¢
Non-current portion 6,775 6,981

Investments relate primarily to customer deposits held in accounts segregated from investments held for operational purpo
Investments held in relation to customer deposits are liguestments andreclassified as current assets consistent with the current
classification of customer depositswhich the investmentsrelalda nagement ' s i nvestment strateg
of the bonds beinpeld to maturityAs of December 31, 2018, Customer deposits were covered 8. Zmillion in investments and
$328.2million in cash.

There wereno impairments recognized on investments during the year ended December 31, 2018 (December 3i|)2@EE Sote
29 fordetails on credit risk.

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Corporaiopleted the disposition of all its securitietNafX Gaming Group Limited
(“NYX Ga mi rfog neGash prgcéells 02%.9million resulting in again of $4.0million. During the year ended December
31, 2017, e Corporation also completed the sale of its ordinary shares in Jackpotjoy plc (LSE: JPJ) for net cash prda@&ds of $
million resulting ina gain of $5.0million. These gains were recorded withos$(gain) on disposal of investments and other assets
included in general and administrative expenses
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TheCo r p o r iavedments’hedd by maturity date are as follows:

Greater than

1 year or less 1to 5years 5 years
$00060 s $00060 s $00060 s
Bonds 41,66 61,48¢ —
Total 41,664 61,48¢ o}

For the year ended December 31, 20t8,Eorporation recogrézl gains (losses) fromvestments as follows:

Equity in
private
Bonds companies Total
$0006¢ $0006 $0006s
Investment income earned 2,592 — 2,592
Realized (losses) gains (311 — (311)
Unrealized (losses) gains (339 — (339)
Re-measurement of financial assets at FVTPL — (1,897 (1,897)
Total 1,94z (1,897) 45

Investmenincome frombonds includes interest income and premium and discount amortiZEtiiere was neither investment income
nor gains or losses in the year ended December 31, 2018 for availadaéeffunds or equity in quoted companies.

Subsidiaries
As at December 31, 2018, the Corporation had thewitg significant subsidiaries

Percentage
Country of Principal of
Name of principal subsidiary incorporation business ownership
StarsGroup Holdings B.V. Netherland Intermediate holding company and investn
vehicle 100%
Stars Group Holdings Cooperatieve U.A Netherland Intermediate holding compa 100%
Stars Interactive Holdings (IOM) Limited Isle of Mar Intermediate holding compa 100%
Worldwide Independent Trust Limited Isle of Mar Treasun 100%
Rational Entertainment Enterprises Limited Isle of Mar Gaming service 100%
Naris Limited Isle of Mar Treasur 100%
StarslInteractive Limited Isle of Mar Intermediate holding compa 100%
RG Cash Plus Limited Isle of Mar Treasun 100%
Rational Gaming Europe Limited Malta Various 100%
REEL Spain Plc Malta Gaming service 100%
HestviewLimited England and Wale Gaming service 100%
Bonne Terre Limited Alderney Gaming service 100%
BetEasy Pty Limited Australia Gaming service 80%

14. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
The Corporati on’ mlamesat®ecanbsr 31, 20c8and\Decbmber 31, 2017 consist of the following;

As at December3l,

In thousands of U.S. Dollars 2018 2017

Balances held with processors 92,971 75,147
Balances due from live events 13,98: 10,26(
VAT receivable 11,02¢ 6,684
Other receivables 18,36¢ 8,31¢
Total accounts receivable balance 136,34 100,40¢
Long-term VAT receivable 14,90¢€ 11,81¢
Total non-current receivable balance 14,90¢ 11,81¢
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15. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, RESTRICTED CASH ADVANCES AND COLLATERAL
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalentsoperational includes an amount o401 million (2017 - $24.7 million) held by a subsidiary othe
Corporation that is subject to exchange controls in the country of operation. This balance is not available for genethkeuse b
Corporation or any of its other subsidiaries

Restricted cash advances and collateral
Restricted cash held by the Corption consists of the following components:

As at December31,

In thousands of U.S. Dollars 2018 2017

Guarantees in connection with licenses held 4,312 4,338
Funds in connection with hedging contracts 2,83€ 5,11¢
Segregated funds in respect of payment processors 2,03C 2,74¢
Guarantee in connection with acquisition of a subsidiary 1,14€ 1,201
Cash portion of Kentucky Bond Collateral * 5,00C 40,00(¢
Funds held in term deposits 5,837 —
Other 288 300
Restricted cash advances and collateréltotal 21,44¢ 53,69¢
Restricted cash advances and collate@lrrent portion 10,81¢ 7,862
Restricted cash advances and collateran-current portion 10,63( 45,83¢

* As at December 31, 20185 #illion of restricted cash was collateralized as part of the Kentucky Bond Collateral (as defined in note
28 below). The Kentucky Bond Collateral will be heidtil acourt order is issued auttiming thereleaseof the bonds

16. PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER ASSETS

As at December3l,

In thousands of U.S. Dollars Note 2018 2017

Prepaid royalties 987 5,704
Prepaid expenses 38,68¢ 22,281
Vendor deposits 1,297 1,40¢
Other current assets 2,978 302
Total current portion of prepaid expenses and other assets 43,94¢ 29,69t
Prepaid royalties 15,96: 16,444
Vendor deposits 758 70
Long term investments 13 6,773 6,981
Investment tax credits receivable 2,482 3,05€
Deferred financing costs 17 6,78% —
Total norcurrent portion of prepaid expensasd other assets 32,76( 26,551

Prepaid royalties include prepaid revenue share paid to business partners. Prepaid expenses are included within spéiad @md g
administrative expenses when recognized as an expggefgred financing costs relate to capitalized transaction costs in respect of the
Revolving Credit Facility.
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17. LONG-TERM DEBT

The following is a summary of loAgrm debt outstanding at December 31, 2018, and 2017 (all capitalized termstheddlite below
relating to such longerm debt are defined below in this note):

December31, December31,
2018, 2017,
Principal December31, Principal December31,
outstanding 2018 outstanding 2017
balancein Carrying balancein Carrying
currency of amount in currency of amount in
In thousands of U.S. Dollars (except as noted) Interest rate borrowing USsD borrowing UsD
Revolving Facility 5.64% — — — —
USD First Lien Term Loan 5.89% 3,557,12! 3,479,82: — —
EUR First Lien Term Loan 3.75% 850,00( 951,98( — —
Senior Notes 7.00% 1,000,00( 980,00¢ — —
Loan payable to nenontrolling interests 0.00% 49,93¢ 35,147 — —
Previous USD first lien term loan 5.32% — — 1,895,65¢ 1,848,39°
Previous EUR first lien term loan 3.25% — — 382,22 453,54(
USD second lien term loan 8.69% — — 95,00c 56,632
Total long-term debt 5,446,95¢ 2,358,56¢
Current portion 35,75(C 4,99C
Non-current portion 5,411,20¢ 2,353,57¢

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Corporation incurred the following interest on-dgiststeerding longerm dédot
excluding itsoan payable to nenontrolling interestsvhich is noninterest bearing

Effectiv Inter

In thousands of U.S. Dollars interees?trafe * Interest Acf:?e?iztn Total Interest

Revolving Facility 5.66% 4,00€ 699 4,70%
USD First Lien Term Loan 6.54% 75,988 7,79¢ 83,781
EUR First Lien Term Loan 4.26% 17,79z 1,36% 19,157
Senior Notes 7.47% 33,25(C 1,00C 34,25(
Previous USD first lien term loan ** 6.07% 42,88t 112,13¢ 155,02(
Previous EUR first lien term loan ** 3.87% 9,69:¢ 41,50z 51,19t
USD second lien term loan ** 13.78% 2,21€ 4,642 6,85¢
Total 185,83C 169,14: 354,97:

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Corporation incurred the following interest ondtgsteerding longerm debt:

Effective Interest
In thousands of U.S. Dollars interest rate Interest Accretion Total Interest
Previous USD first lien term loan 5.54% 76,851 11,817 88,66¢
Previous EUR first lien term loan 4.37% 16,82¢ 1,271 18,09t
USD second lien term loan 16.05% 14,34( 5,17¢ 19,51¢
Total 108,01¢ 18,267 126,28:

* The effective interest rate calculation excludes the impact of the debt extinguishments in respect of the April 20k Amrtehd
and the repayment of thpgevious first lien termdans & well as thempact of the Swap Agreements.

** |Interest accretion fortte year ended December 31, 2@d@udes a loss on debt extinguishment ®4%.0million included within
net financing charges in respect of #maendment and extensiand subsequémepayment of th€ o r p o r jariorfifirst fieh term
loans
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The Corporation’s debt balance for the year ended December

Adjustment
on Adjustments Interest
Opening adoption of Debt to amortized Accretion
In thousands of U.S. Dollars Balance IFRS 9 New debt repayments cost * **  Translation _ Closing
Revolving Facility — — 100,00C (100,000 (699) 699 — —
USD First Lien Term Loan — — 3,575,00( (17,87%) (85,101)) 7,79¢ — 3,479,82
EUR First Lien Term Loan — — 999,53¢ — (23,827 1,36t (25,097 951,98(
Senior Notes — — 1,000,00( — (20,997 1,00C — 980,00¢
Loan payable to nenontrollinginterests — — 52,357 (6,167) (8,517) —  (2,52¢) 35,14i
Previous USD first lien term loan 1,848,39° (46,894 268,921(2,164,57) (17,984 112,13t — —
Previous EUR first lien term loan 453,54( (30,72%F) 144,627 (585,45() (5,077) 41,50z (18,417 —
USD second lien term loan 56,63z 33,72t — (95,000 — 4,645 — —
Total 2,358,56¢ (43,894 6,140,44( (2,969,06) (162,197) 169,14: (46,040 5,446,95!

The Corporation’s debt balance for the year ended December

Adjustments  Interest

Opening Debt to amortized Accretion
In thousands of U.S. Dollars Balance New debt repayments cost * *x Translation Closing
Previous USD first lien term loan 1,965,92¢ (125,447) (3,906) 11,817 — 1,848,39°
Previous EUR first lien term loan 296,19¢ 103,97: (3,444 (829 1,271 56,371 453,54(
USD second lien term loan 166,45: (115,000 — 5,17¢ — 56,63
Total 2,428,57¢ 103,97 (243,88¢) (4,735) 18,261 56,371 2,358,56¢

* Adjustments to amortized cost includes transaction costs incurred on the issuance or incurrence of each of the finaneiatsinst
and, with respect to the Senior Notes (as defined below), the bifurcation of embedded features in 2018 as deserédret] dedo
forgiveness in relation to the loan payable to-nontrolling interestsln addition, unamortized deferred financing costst@8illion
were reclassified to prepaid expenses and othercooent assets on the consolidated statementsafdial position following the
repayment of $00.0million previously drawron the Revolving Facility.

** |nterest accretion represents interest expeaseulated at the effective interest rate less interest expense calculated at the contractu
interest rateand is recorded in net financing charges inabesolidated teatemers of (loss) arnings.

As at December 31, 2018, the contractual -emidebicoveptiaelnextfieeyeans me
amount to thdollowing:

In thousands of U.S. Dollars <1 Year 1-2 Years 2-3 Years 3-4 Years 4-5 Years >5 Years
Revolving Facility — — — — — —
USD First Lien Term Loan 35,75( 35,75(C 35,75( 35,75( 35,75C  3,378,37!
EUR First Lien Term Loan — — — — — 973,801
Senior Notes — — — — — 1,000,00t
Loan payable to nenontrolling interests — 35,147 — — — —
Total 35,75( 70,897 35,75( 35,75( 35,75C  5,352,17¢
(a) Revolving Facility, First Lien Term Loans and Senior Notes

As previously disclosed, on July 10, 2018, thepgooation completed the SBG Acquisition. To finance the cash portion of the purchase
price, repayth&Cor porati on’'s prewnsuanfli retpali @BnhGtbs whick Wwas assumgd by then g
Corporation as part of the acquisition, tberporation used existing cash resources and ra&&é#billion in First Lien Term Loans,
$1.00billion in Senior Notes (each as defined below) a®@1$8million of net proceeds (before expenses), excluding the overallotment,
from the issuance of additional Common Shares as a result of the Equity Offering (as defined below). The Corporatiaimatsa obt
new Revolving Facility (as defined below) of @0 million, of which it had drawn $00 million as of completion of the acquisition
(collectively with the foregoing, the “SBG Financi ngletgils Th
on the Equity Offering portion of hSBG Financing, see note 24.
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Revolving Facility

On July 10, 2018, as part of the SBG Financing, the Corporation refiageeliousrevolvingfacility with a new first lien revolving
facility of $700mi I 1 i on (t he “ Rev ol nlulnl®, 2623tleiRevblting Farility inkladeaumargim af3.2®46 for
borrowingswhich is subject to leveragbased steglowns. The commitment fee on the Revolving Facility varies 602506 to
0.379% based on first lien leverage. Borrowingslenthe Revolving Facility are subject to the satisfaction of customary conditions,
including the absence of a default and compliance with certain representations and warranties. The Revolving Fac#itgubppdte

to a testing threshold, that the @oration comply on a quarterly basis with a maximum net first lien senior secured leverage ratio of
6.75t0 1.00.

The Revolving Facility can be used for working capital needs and for general corporate purposes. As at December 31, 2018
December 31, 2017 there wereamounts outstanding under the Revolving Facilityarfde Cor por at i on ’asilitypr ev
respectively. The Corporation ha@4s2million of letters of credit issued but undrawn as of December 31, 2018. Availability under the
Revolving Facility as of December 31, 2018 wag% 8million.

First Lien Term Loans

On July 10, 2018&s part of the SBG Famcing, the Corporation repaid its previous first lien tevams and issued new First Lien Term
Loans of $.575billion priced at LIBOR plu3.50%6 (t he “USD First Lien Term Loam50 an
million priced at EURIBOR plu.7% (t he “EUR First Lien Term Loan” and, toge
Lien Term Loans”), edlgl0 202@mhda LIBORmadtEURIBOR Yloor as applicabl€0&s. Starthg on the

last day of the first fiscal quarter ending after July 10, 2018, the USD First Lien Term Loan requires scheduled qirzctealy pr
payments in amounts equal @2%% of the aggregate principal amount of the USD First Lien Term Loan, withala@mce due at
maturity. There is no amortization on the EUR First Lien Term Llavahthe principal is due at maturity

The Corporation, its lenders, Deutsche Bank AG New York Branch, as administrative agent, and certain other partiesdistoenter
anew credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) for the Fir
reflect the foregoing transactions and add certain operational and financial flexibility, particularly as it relatetpdiai@h on a
combined basis following the SBG Acquisition.

The Credit Agreement | imits Stars Group Hol di ngs B.nddebtand
(ii) grant additional liens on their assets and equity,dig}ribute equity interests and/or distribute any assets to third parties, (iv) make
certain loans or investments (including acquisitions), (v) consolidate, merge, sell or otherwise dispose of all or Ibub#itartiats,

(vi) pay dividends on or maldistributions in respect of capital stock or make restricted payments, (vii) enter into certain transaction:
with affiliates, (viii) change lines of business, and (ix) modify the terms of certain debt or organizational documachs;ase subject

to cetain exceptions. The Credit Agreement also provides for customary mandatory prepayments, including a customary excess
flow sweepif certain conditions are met

Senior Notes

Al so in connection with the SBG I3 StarsrG@GadumHoldings Bi\d. ana Stars Graup (09) r |
CoBorrower , LLC (thO& “Slesnsiuoerr sN'o)t,e si sdsuuee d2 026 (the “Senior NoO
principal amount of $.00billion. The Senior Notes mature dnly 15,2026 Interest on the Senior Notes is payable sanmually on
January 15 and July 15 of each year, commencing on January 15T20. Seni or Notes are guarantee
subsidiaries that guarantees the Revolving Facllith.e Seni or Notes are the | ssuers’ sen
right of payment with all/l of the | s s uéhesSenioeNotessinclude the fallowdng f u
features which were collectively idenéfl as the Embedded Derivative (as defined below) that required bifurcation from the carrying
value of the Senior Notes.

T Upon certain events constituting a change of <control u
holders ofthe Senior Notes have the right to require Stars Group Holdings B.V. to offer to repurchase the Senior Notes a
purchase price equal 1% of their principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, to (but not including) the date of
purchasdthe* Change of Contr ol Put”) .

1 Priorto July 15, 2021, the Issuers may redeem 48%o of the original aggregate principal of the Senior Notes with proceeds
from an equity offering at a redemption price1df@6, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if ay(but not including) the
applicable redemption date (the ®“Equity Clawback”).

1 Prior to July 15, 2021the Issuers may redeem some or all of the Senior Notes at a redemption price 80 & the
principal amount of the Senior Notes, plus accrared unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the applicable redemption
date, plus anwhelpé¢’i caplemit umak®&n or aft er J urlalyofthe5Senio2 0 2 !
Notes at decliningedemption priceasset forthint he | ndenture (collectively the *“F
Change of Control P@nd the Equity Clawback t he “ Embedded Derivative”).

The fair value of the Embedded Derivative at issuance of the Senior Notes and at December 31, 207& waliidh and $11.6
million, respectively. See notes 19 and 26
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The Senior Notes include, among other terms and c otaidlietsj on s

create, assume, incur or guarantee additionald e bt edness of <certain of the | ssuers’
convey, transfer or | ease all or substantially all of the
(b) Minority shareholder loan

In connection withhe acquisition of 2% equity interest in BetEasy, the Corporation acquired financial liabilitieS®2%nillion,
which included a loan of1%.5million (AUD$19.7million) from the minority shareholders of BetEasy. During the year eDéedmber

31, 2018 a subsidiary of the Corporation repd&®#nillion (AUD$8.2 million) of such loan and entered into an agreement with such
minority shareholders to forgive and discharges$nillion (AUD$11.5million) of the outstandingdan balance.

As previously reported, on March 6, 2018, a subsidiary of the Corporation entered into agreement with the holdersadith®lfing
interest in BetEasy to increase its equity interest 1@ to 80% and for BetEasy to acquileSGA. According to the agreement, the
nontcontrolling interest of BetEasy made a loan 854 million (AUD$47.4 million) and equity contribution of #2.1 million
(AUD$15.8million). During the year ended December 31, 2018, theaumtrolling interest provided an additional shareholder loan of
$1.8 million (AUD$2.5 million). As at December 31, 2018, the outstanding loan balance 3@k fillion (AUD$49.9million). The

loan is noninterest bearing and repayable on the earlier of 9 years and 364 days from the date of advance and the date of completic
the 20% putall option See note 19

(b) Previousfirst lien term loans, USD second lien term loamnd previous revolving facility

On April 6, 2018, the Corporation successfully increased, repriced and exterediassfirst lien term loans and previous revolving
facility and repaid its USBecondlien term ban. The transaction was recorded as an extinguishment for accounting pufgoses.
termination costs were incurre8ubsequently,ni connection with the SBG Acquisition and SBG Financing,July 10, 2018the
Corporation repaidts previousfirst lien termloans, repaid the existing lotgrm indebtedness of SBG, entered into the new Credit
Agreement with respect to First Lien Term Loans and Revolving Facility, and issued the Seniof Notemnsaction was recorded as
an extinguishment for accounting posesNo termination cots were incurred upon repayment.

18. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Corporation’s objective in managing capital i S jectivese n s |
while maximizing return to shareholders through the optimizatiothe@ftise of debt and equity. Liquidity is necessaryrteet the
Corporation’s existing general capital needs, fund Imdrkets Cor

activities includingtherepayment of debt.

The Corporation has historically met its liquidity needs throcgsgh flow generated from operations and capital markets activities
including the incurrence and issuance of dahtl issuance of capital stockh e C o r p currentobjectivé isto meet all of its
current liquidityandexisting general capitaéquirments from the cash flow generated from operations.

The capital structure of the Corporation and its subsidiaries consists eelomglebtwhichis offset by cash balances, and total equity
attributable to shar ehol demesobjedivesareGooptpnze ita tapital sttucturecaadpcost oéldapit ma
The Corporation intends to deleverage by focusing on improving profitability andmgpudydebt.

For additional information rseeawot@i ng the Corporation

19. DERIVATIVES AND HEDGE ACCOUNTING

The Corporation is exposed to interest rate and currency risk, refer to note 29. The Corporation uses derivative simamsatsfor

risk management purposes and anticipates that such instrumentstigéteninterest rate and currency risk, as applicable. As such, any
change in cash flows associated with derivative instruments is expected to be offset by changes in cash flows relaé&ztfj¢d the
position.

s |igq

Upon completion of the SBG Acquisition, the@oration made a net cash payment df0dnillion to unwind and settle certain
previously existingcrosscurrency swap agreements and interest rate swap agreementsat ed t o t h epreVioastyg i n ¢
outstanding londerm debt that wereo longer requiredbllowing the repayment of the same

Subsequent to the SBG Financing, and as part of manaegiskng t
the Corporation entered into cressrrency interest rate swaga eement s and i nterest rate swap
Agreements”), each as discussed bel ow. At t h made a cash pagrentefn t ¢
$61.1million to unwind and settle its previously exigin s wap agreements (the “Previous Swe

50



Derivatives
Swap Agreements

During the year ended December 31, 2018, a subsidiary of the Corpamatéyad into USEEUR crosscurrency interest rate swap
agreement6 t he CroBsSCRr rency | ntewiesh ®&anet iSapilson Gd3hilion), whaich fix€¢he USD

to EUR exchange rate &t167and fix the Euro interest payments at an average interest rat&6f as well as EUFRGBP cross
currency interest rate swap agreeméntsh e “ GBBr €Ceoas § | nt e withanotioRehameunt®ff@p 5 I' ) 1.1@ n  (
billion), which fix the EUR to GBP exchange rateDa#889and fix the GBP interest paymsrat an average interest ratebof%. The
crosscurrency interest rate swaps have a profile that amortizes in line with the USD First Lien Term Loan and each are iseirto matu
July 2023 The Corporation also entered into an amortizing USD inteaiessswap agreemefitt he “ | nt e r with d notRrak e ¢
amount of $00million, which is set to mature iduly 2023 and swaps USD thraeonth LIBOR to a fixed interest rate »f82%6.

Previous Swap Agreements

The PreviousSwap Agreements haged thanterest rate and foreign exchange risk onGhe r p o r previous firstien term dans.
Therefore, in connection with the repaymentha previous first liengrm Loansthe Corporation unwound and settled the remaining
USD notional principal of $.39billion related to the Previous Swap Agreements for a cash payme@it dfrfiillion.

Embedded Derivative

See note 17 for a discussion of the features embedded iretter Blotes that the Corporation bifurcated as it determined that the
features were derivatives to be classified and recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

The fair value of the Embedded Derivative at issuance of the Senior Notes and at DeceribéB83tas $7.7 million and $11.6
million, respectivelyThe fair value of the Embedded Derivative was determirsdaly an interest rate option pricing valuation model.
The key assumptions include the implied credit spre&i®6 at issuance antl6% at December 31, 2018he Embedded Derivative
is categorized as a Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy. The Corporation did not account for the Embedded Derivataléyésg
hedge.

Unsettled bets

Unsettled bets represent bets that areestdout the everio which the bet relates have ryett concluded. See noefor further details
regardingBetting revenue. The principal assumption used in the fair value determination of unsettled bets id patedndioss win
margin on the outcomaf the events to which the bets relate. The Embedded Derivative is categorized as a Level 3 within the fair vall
hierarchy.

Put and call options on 20% nearontrolling interest in BetEasy

On April 24, 2018, in conne cofthoadditionali8% interdstin BEtRasypy ther Carparation enterec ¢
into a noncontrolling interest putall option in relation to the0% interest in BetEasy held by its minority interest shareholders, with
an exercise price based on certain future operating performance conditions of the acquired business. This was deteranimaa to b
controlling interest putall option with a variablsettlement amount that can be settled in either cash or shares or a combination of bott
and because the paall option does not clearly grant the Corporation with present access to returns associated with the &taining
ownership interest, the Carmtion recognized this pugll option as a net liability derivative. As at each of the acquisition date and
December 31, 2018, the Corporation determined that the fair value of tht®ntrolling interest derivative w&sil as the fundamentals

of the underlying business operations remain consistent with the acquisition date

Deal contingenforwards

In connection with the SBG Acquisition and #estralian Acquisitions, to economically hedge its riskooéign exchange fluctuations
leading up to e acquisitionsthe Corporation entered into deal contingent forward costrAttthe time of completion of the
acquisitions, lie Corporation settled the deal contingent forwamt recognizedraaggregateealized loss of &1.5million included
in foreign exchange within the general and administrative category in the consolidated staéifhest)earnings The Corporation
did not account for the deal contingdotward contracts agualifying hedge under IAS 39.
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The following table summarizebd fair value of derivatives as at December 31, 2018 and 2017:

Year ended December 31, 2018 Year ended December 31, 2017

In thousands of U.S. Dollars Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
Derivatives held for hedging
Derivatives designated in cash flow hedges
Cross currency interest rate swaps 41,117 1,09¢€ — 111,76:
Interest rate swap — 4,972 — —
Total derivatives designated in cash flow hedges 41,117 6,06¢ — 111,76
Derivatives designated in net investment hedges
Cross currency interest rate swaps 1,86€ — — —
Total derivatives designated in net investment hedge 1,86€ — — —
Total derivatives held for hedging 42,98: 6,06€ 0 111,76
Derivatives held for risk management not designated in hedg
Forward contracts — 208 2,037 —
Unsettled bets * — 16,28t — 779
Embedded derivative 11,60(C — — —
Total derivatives held for risk management not designatechi

hedges 11,60( 16,49: 2,037 779

* The unsettled bets liability is recorded in accounts payable and other liabilities on the consolidated statement o disitinnials
at December 31, 201ahd is recorded in derivatives on the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018.

HedgeAccounting

The Corporation’s exposure to market risks includigegskandt er
its approach to managing those risks is discussed in note 29.

Cash flow hedge accounting

In accordance with h e Cor p or aiskimanmagesentcstnategye Gdrporatiorntered intdhe Swap Agreemente mitigate
the risk of fluctuation bcoupon and principal cash flows due to changes in foreign currency rates and interesltatatd sothe USD
First Term Lien Loan.

The Corporation assesses hedge effectiveness by comparing the changes in fair value of a hypothetical derivitg/éheeferohs

of the debt instrument issued due to movements in the applicable foreign currency exchange rate and benchmark initgréise rate w
changes in fair value of the cressrrency interest rate swaps ainterest rate swaps used to hedge theosure, as applicable. The
Corporation uses the hypothetical derivative method to determine the changesatutaiof the hedged item. The Corporatias
identified the following possible sources of ineffectiveness in its cash flow hedge relationships:

1 The use of derivatives as a protection against currency and interest rate risk creates an exposure to the derivative doynterp
credit risk which is not offset by the hedged item. This risk is minimized by entering into derivatives with high ciégit qua
counterparties.

Difference in tenor of hedged items and hedging instruments.

1 Use of different discounting curves for hedged item and hedging instrument, because for cross currency interest rae swap:
discounting curve used depends on collatestibn and the type of collateral used.

1 Difference in timing of settlement of the hedging instrument and hedged item.
Designation of offmarket hedging instruments.

The EURCrossCurrency Interest Rate Swaps and the bgeRate Swapvere designated in daglow hedge relationships to hedge
theforeign exchange risk afat interest rategisk onthe USD First Lien Term Loan bearing a minimum floating interest ra8e586
(USD threemonth LIBOR plus 8.5% margin, with a LIBOR floor 00%).

AsatDecember 312018,$11.6million of accumulated other comprehensive igsacluded inthe cash flow hedging reserve (see note
25) relatedo dedesignatectash flowhedgesand is reclassified tthe statements of (losearningsas the hedged cash flowspact
(loss) earnings.
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Net investment hedge accounting

In accordance withth€Eor por at i nsk mamagememt strategy, the Corporatiesignates certaicross currenginterest rate
swap contracts arttie carrying amount of certain debt instruments in net investment hedging relationships to mitigate the risk of chang
in foreign currency ratewith respect tdhe translation of assets and liabilitefssubsidiaries wittioreignfunctionalcurrercies

Upon entering into the GBP Cre&airrency Interest Rate Swaps, the Corporation designated these instruments as a hedge of the forw:
foreign exchange risk of its net investment in its GBP foreign operafitnasCorporation assesses hedge effectivenessmparing

the changes in fair value of the net assets designated, due to movements in the foreign currency rate with the chaades af faé
hedging instruments used to hedge the exposure. The Corporation uses the hypothetical derivative detthratine the changes in
fair value of the hedged item. The only source of Credagrisk ect
on the fair value of the derivative, which is not reflected in the fair value of thehwetjmatl derivative.

Upon completion of the SBG Financing, the Corporation designated the carrying amount of the USD First Lien Term Loamg(excludi
the carrying amount subject to the Swap Agreements) and the carrying amount of the Senior Notes asfaHsedget doreign
exchange risk of its net investment in its USD functional subsididries Corporation assesses hedge effectiveness by comparing the
currency and the carrying amount of the USD First Lien Term Loan with the currency and the netfassdtsSD functional
subsidiaries.

As at December 31, 20186@.6 million of accumulated other comprehensive income is included inuimellativetranslation reserve
(see note 25) related to-designated net investment hedges and is reclassified stetieenents of (loss) earninggon disposition of
the net investment in the applicable foreign subsidiaries

Effects of hedge accounting

The following tables presents the effects of ¢ ansidhpoditibroamd h e
performance.
Amount
Change in fair Hedging reclassified
Change in value of gains from
value of hedging (losses) accumulated
hedged items instruments Hedge recognized other Net change in
for for ineffectivenes:  in other comprehensive other
ineffectivenes: ineffectivenes: gain comprehensive income (loss) comprehensive
measurement measurement (loss) * income to earnings **  income (loss)

Cash flow hedges
Interest rate risk

Floating rate debt (4,972) 4,972 — (4,972) — (4,972)
Interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk
Floating rate, foreign currency debt and other 105,59: (90,68%) 14,90¢ 46,172 (45,277) 902

100,62 (85,711  14,90¢ 41,201 (45,277) (4,070)

Net investment hedges (104,029) 104,02¢ 0 (104,029) 0 (104,029

* Hedge ineffectiveness is recorded within net financing charges on the consolidated staif(ioss)earnings.

** For cash flow hedges that address interest rateanglor foreign currency exchange rihe anount reclassified from accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) to earnings is recorded within interest expense included in net financirg fdraige®xchange
(gain) loss included in general and administraxpensesnthe consolidated statemsmif (loss)earning.
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Reconciliation ofaccumulatedther comprehensivéncome [0ss):

Accumulated Accumulated  Accumulated
other Accumulated other other
comprehensive Net changes ir other comprehensive comprehensive
income other comprehensive income income (loss)
(loss), comprehensive income (loss) on on de
beginning of income (loss), designated designated
year (loss) end of year hedges hedges
Cash flow hedges *
Interest rate risk
Floating rate debt — (4,972) (4,972) (4,972) —
Interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk
Floating rate, foreign currency debt and other (33,987) 902 (33,087) (21,507 (11,579
(33,987 (4,070) (38,057 (26,479 (11,579
Net investment hedges ** 86,43( (104,029 (17,599) (66,749 49,15(

* Net changes in other comprehensive income (loss) is recorded through the cash flow hedging reserve. See note 25.
** Net changes in other comprehensive income (losgciwrded through the cumulative translation reserve. See note 25.
20. COMMITMENTS

The Corporation asessee and other contractual commitments

At December 31, 2018, the Cor por at icancellable dperating tess anu dtimer ofligations e a

aggregate t$346.4 million and are payable as follows:

Later than oneyear
but not later than

In thousands of U.S. Dollars Within oneyear 5 years More than 5 years
Lease obligations 61,42 154,37 26,01:
Other contractual commitments 40,011 54,05¢ 10,561
Total 101,43« 208,42¢ 36,57

The Corporation asessor

At December 31, 2018, t he Cor por at icancellable dparating leasesmggregatflib®
million and are receivable as follows

Later than oneyear
but not later than

In thousands of U.S. Dollars Within oneyear 5 years More than 5 years
Lease obligations 1,86% 7,452 5,538
Total 1,86< 7,452 5,538

Other commitments

The Corporation had7.2million of letters of credit issued but undrawn as of December 31, 2018. See note 17.
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21. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER LIABILITIES
The Corporati on’ sotherl@alulites compsisethbedojioavind: e and

As at December31,

In thousands of U.S. Dollars 2018 2017
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 282,63( 98,49:
VAT payable 18,792 18,757
Customer loyalty rewards 24,781 29,50¢
Employee benefits payable 57,14: 39,05(
Dormant funds 7,30¢ 8,37¢
Accrued interest on Senior Notes 33,347 —
Total accounts payable and other currentiabilities 424,007 194,18
Long-term lease liability 2,08¢ —
Deferred contingent payment (note 26) 77,62¢ —
Total long-term payables 79,71¢€ —
VAT Payable

A significant portionof the VAT payable relates to amounts owfog VAT for prior periods as a result of engagement with the Swiss
tax authority on the application of the law. This is tlube settled by the end fifst quarter 02019

22. PROVISIONS

The carrying amous and the movements in the provisions during the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

Player Deferred
bonuses payment Restructuring

In thousands of U.S. Dollars and jackpots provision provision Other Total

Balance at January 1, 2017 1,571 202,51t — 17,63¢€ 221,72
Adjustment to provision recognized 48,14¢ (815) — (121) 47,21C
Payments (44,12)) (297,510 — (9,31)) (250,947)
Accretion of discount — 2,04¢ — 839 2,887
Reclassification (1,449 — — — (1,449
Foreign exchange translation losses 113 62 — 1,07t 1,25C
Balance at DecembeB1, 2017 4,265 6,30C — 10,11¢ 20,68:
Provisions acquired in business combinations 8,34¢ — 1,614 5,297 15,26(
Recognized — — 8,164 — 8,164
Adjustment to provision recognized 55,73¢ — — 654 56,38¢
Payments (48,902) — — (7,00€) (55,90¢)
Accretion of discount — — — 411 411
Foreign exchange translation losses (862) — (65) (880) (1,807)
Balance at DecembeB1, 2018 18,584 6,30C 9,71z 8,594 43,191
Current portion at December 31, 2017 4,26~ 6,30C — 7,025 17,59(
Non-current portion at December 31, 2017 — — — 3,09¢ 3,09:
Current portion at Decembad, 2018 18,58¢ 6,30C 9,71: 4,592 39,18¢
Nonrcurrent portion at Decemb8d, 2018 — — — 4,00z 4,00z

Provision for jackpots

The Corporation offers progressive jackpot games. Each time a progressive jackpot game is playel of theramount wagered by
the player is contributed to the jackpot for that specific game or group of games. Once a jackpot is won, the prodigstiseégset
with a predetermined base amount. The Corporation maintains a provision for thef e fackpot and the progressive element
added as the jackpot game is played. The Corporation believes that its provisions are sufficient to cover the full anyoanfuided
payout.
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Deferredpayment

The acquisitiordate fair value of any deferrgghymentis recognized as part of the consideration transferred by the Corporation in
exchange for the acquiree. The Corporation estimates, based on expected future cash flows, the amount that wouldibsetitpiired
the applicable obligation and recopes the present value of the samibe provision for the theautstanding deferregayment
primarily related to the Stars Interactive Group Acquisitibime Corporation paid the remaining balance in full during the year ended
December 31, 201The remainingleferredpaymentprovisionat December 31, 2018 relates to pineviously disclosedcquisition of
Diamond Game anig contingent on future events.

Restructuring provision

The Corporation recordedestructuring provisions during tlyearended December 31, 20X8llowing the Australian Acquisitions and

the SBG Acquisition in response ¢ertain reorganizations as the Corporation focuses on enacting synergies. The provision primaril
consists of personnel and facilities related coststla@d»rporation believes that its provisions are sufficient to cover the full amount
of any required payout.

Other

The other provisions consist @& minimum revenue guarantgeovisions forleaseretirement costsand other provisions fomerous
contracts.

23. CUSTOMER DEPOSITS

The Corporation holds customer deposits, along with winnings and any bonuses in trust accounts from which money manpwed be re
if it would result in a shortfall of such deposits. These deposits are included in current assets in the consolidateis stfiearecial
position under Cashcustomer deposits and Current investmentsistomer deposits and includes cash and short term, highly liquid
investmentsCustomer deposits are segregated as follows:

As at December31,

In thousands of U.Dollars 2018 2017

Cash- customer deposits 328,22 227,09¢
Current investmentscustomer deposits (note 13) 103,15: 122,66¢
Total 431,37¢ 349,76¢
Customer deposits liability 423,73¢ 349,76¢

Customer deposit liabilities relate to customer deposits which are held in multiple bank and investment accounts tregadesl seg
from those holding operational funds.

24, SHARE CAPITAL

The authorized share capital of the Corporation consistsurilanitednumber of Common Shares, with no par value, angthéimited
number of convertibl e pr ef enoparevalue,sstuabie e seri€s. AP at ReCeenber A ,RUB3A7244e s 7
shares were issued and fully paid (December 31, 2047,947,874

CommonShares  Preferred Shares Cg;r; Teosn Preferred Shares
Number Number $000 ¢ $00060¢

Opening balance, as at January 1, 2017 145,101,12 1,139,24¢  1,178,40: 684,38t
Exercise of stock options and other equity awards 2,923,18: — 21,92: —
Repurchase of Common Shares (76,437 — (493) —
Ending balance, as at December 31, 2017 147,947,87. 1,139,24¢  1,199,83: 684,38t
Exercise of stock options and other equity awards 1,791,86( — 38,04¢ —
Exercise ofwarrants 2,422,94. — 14,68¢ —
Conversion of Preference Shares 60,013,51I (1,139,249 684,38t (684,38%)
Issua_\n_ce_of Common Shares in connection with acquired 41,049,39! . 1.477.474 .
subsidiaries
Issuance of Common Shares in connection with Equity Offe 18,875,00! — 690,35 —
Issue of Common Sharesdonnection with market access 1,076,65¢ . 20,661 .
agreement
Equity Fees — — (5,413 —
Reversal of 2014 deferred tax — — (3,747) —
Ending balance, as at Decembe31, 2018 273,177,24 0 4,116,28 0
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Equity Offering

On June 26, 2018, the Corporation closed an under wirprice df e n
$38.00 per Common Share. The Corporation sold a total 4000,000Common Shares and certain selling shareholders of the
Corporation sold3,000,000Common Shares. The net proceeds to the Corporation (excluding thallot@ent proceedskfter
underwriting discounts and commissions, but before expenses of the Equity Offering payable by the Corporati6av@enéli®n.

The Equity Offering also included an owaiotment option granted to the underwriters to purchase an additi@ys,000Common
Shares from the Corporation ab@75,000Common Shares from the selling shareholders at a pricg80®@er Common Share. The
underwriters exercised this ovallotment option in full on July 20, 2018, which closed on July 248201d resulted in additional net
proceeds to the Corporation after underwriting discounts and commissions, but before expenses edfibtntesatroption payable by
the Corporation, of @.6million.

Preferred Share Conversion

On June 5, 2018, the Guoration announced that it elected to effect the conversion of all Preferred Shares pursuant to their terms (t
“Preferred Share Conversion”) as a result of meetiAsgreduhe a
onlly 18, 2018, al | of the Corporation’s outstandi m3708r ef
Common Shares per Preferred Share, resulting in the cancellation of all of the Preferred Shares and the 5%288;628million
Common Shares to the holders thereof. All the Preferred Shares were cancelled and all rights associated therewithatede termin

Prior to completion of the Preferred Share Conversion, Polar {8trditegy Master Fund (and certain affiliated fynalisd Verition
Canada Master Fund Ltd. applied to the Ontario Superior Court of Justice for a declaration that the mandatory convetsion wo
contravene the Corporation’s articles of cont i numoratian.andOn
dismissed the application. As a result, the Corporation proceeded with the conversion as indicated above. The apEipaatspubs
appealed the Superior Court decision and in the appeal are seeking, among other things, rescissionvefrsfon ar potential
damages.

In addition to the Common Shares issued in connection with the Equity Offering and Preferred Share Conversion as degeribed ak
during the year ended December 31, 2018:

1 The Corporation issuet, 731,76 1Common Shares farash consideration of3%.0million as a result of the exercise of stock
options. The exercised stock options were initially valuedba iillion. Upon exercise, the values originally allocated to the
stock options in the Equity reserve were realleddo the Common Shares so issued.

1 The Corporation issuegD,099Common Shares in connection with the settlement of other eloastyd awards, initially valued
at $L.2million. Upon settlement of such equibased awards, the values originally adited to the equitpased awards in the
Equity reserve were reallocated to the Common Shares issued.

1 The Corporation issued,422,944Common Shares as a result of the exercisé,@0,000warrants. There armo further
outstanding warrants as at@enber 31, 2018. The exercised warrants were initially valuetdat sillion. Upon the exercise
of such warrants, the value originally allocated to the Warrants reserve was reallocated to the Common Shares so issued.

I The Corporation issue®l013,887Common Shares as a result of the voluntary conversiti2)698Preferred Shares prior to
the Preferred Share Conversion. The converted Preferred Shares were initially vallLeti@in#lion. Upon the conversion
of the Preferred Shares, the value originally allocated to the Preferred Shares was reallocated to the Common Shdres so is
8,000,0000f the Common Shares issued as a result of such voluntary conversion were thertiselddiyers thereof in the
Equity Offering.

1 The Corporation issueg,115,344Common Shares, valued @64 million, to the sellers of BetEasy as partial consideration
for the acquisition of an addition&B% of the equity interests in BetEasy.

1 The Corporation issuegl7,934,054Common Shares, valued dt.38billion, to the sellers of SBG as partial consideration for
the SBG Acquisition.

1 The Corporation issued,076,658Common Shares, valued a2G7 million, to Eldorado Resorts, Inc* (EI d o)rirad o ”
connection with amgreementith Eldorado which, among other thinggants the Corporation an option to operanline
betting and gaming in certagtates where Eldorado currently or in the future owns or operates casino properties.

During the year ended December 31, 2017:

1 The Corporation issue2,899,184Common Shares for cash consideration 8.8 million as a result of the exercise of stock
options and the settlement of other equity awards. The exercised stock options and other equity awards were initiatly value:
$5.3 million. Upon the exercise of stock options and the settlement of othity eguards, the values originalbllocatedto
the stock options and other equity awards in the Equity reserve were reallocated to the Common Shares so issued.

1 The Corporation cancelled6,437common shares related to theeviously disclosedcquisiton of Amaya (Alberta) Inc.
(formerly Chartwell T @nc2B1d that wayeyunclaimed. ahd srren@dreal to tthey Edrploratipse
securities were cancelled due to the expirat enentfoothe t h
purchase, which provided for the cancellation of a right of the holder to receive cash consideration, for any certifieaibgs fo
representing Chartwell shares that were not depositedall other documents as required by the applicalale @arrangement
on or before the fourth anniversary of the date of purcldsedifference between the aggregate purchase price and the book
value of the reclaimed shares was accounted for in the Treasury Reserve
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25. RESERVES

The followingtablehi ghl i ghts the c¢cl asses of reserves included in the
Financial Cash

Acquisition Cumulative  Available for assets at flow
In thousands of U.S. Dollars reserve  Warrants Equity Treasury translation saleinvestments FVOCI hedging Other Total
Balancei January 1, 2017 — 14,63¢ 31,14z (30,03%) 77,171 (9,98%) — (48,33F) 1,24¢ 35,8471
Cumulative translation adjustments — — — — (189,017) — — — — (189,017
Stockbased compensation — — 10,622 — — — — — — 10,62z
Exercise of equity awards — —  (5,25¢) — — — — — — (5,25¢)
Realized (losses) gains — — — — — (37,090 — 160,06¢ — 122,97¢
Unrealized gains (losses) — — — — — 32,47¢ —  (151,31) — (118,83)
Reclassification * — 50 — — (8,86¢) 9,197 — — (379) —
Deferred tax on stockased
compensation — — 359 — — — — — — 359
Other — — — 493 — — — 5594 (5,127) 960
Balancei December 31, 2017 — 14,68¢ 36,86t (29,547 (120,709 (5,402) — (33,987 (4,257) (142,340
Impact of adoption of IFRS 9 — — — — — 45 168 — — 213
Reclassification ** — — — — 15 5,357 — — (5,372 —
Balance- January 1, 2018 (restated)
(note 4) — 14,68¢ 36,86t (29,547 (120,699 — 168 (33,987 (9,629 (142,12))
Cumulative translation adjustments — — — — (93,350 — — — — (93,350
Stockbased compensation — — 12,80¢ — — — — — —  12,80¢
Exercise of stock options and releas
of equity awards — — (6,982) — — — — — — (6,982)
Reallocation from warrants reserve
share capital for exercised warrants — (14,689 — — — — — — — (14,68¢)
Realized gains (losses) — — — — — — (311) (45,27]) —  (45,587)
Unrealized (losses) gains — — — — — — (339) 41,201 — 40,862

Deferred Tax on Reneasurements — — — — — — 53 — — 53
Reversal of deferred tax on steck

based compensation — —
Impairment of debt instruments at

FVOCI — — — — — — (84) — — (84)
Further acquisition of subsidiary (220,027) — — — — — — — (155) (220,17¢)
Balancei December31, 2018 (220,027) 0 42,330 (29,542 (214,044 — (513) (38,055 (9,784) (469,629

(359) — — — — — — (359)

* During the year ended December 2D17, the principal reclassification made by the Corporation \9a3 riillion from the
Cumul ative transl ati on adfprissaatl merntnsy ersd snemvu e "t o afywous @hicdaoi Icalr

** Upon adoption of IFRS 9, the @poration reclassified amountstime available for sale investments reservéhisfinancial assets at
FVOCI reserveThe Corporation identifie$5.4 million of other reserves not directly related to available for sale investments and
reclassified thg balancehe other reserve

Acquisition reserve

On February 27, 2018, a subsidiary of the Corporation completed its acquisitic2®6 iaterest in BetEasy. On April 24, 2018, a
subsidiary of the Corporation acquired an additidri@¥interest inBetEasy and on the same date, BetEasy completed its acquisition
of 100%of TSGA. The carrying amounts of the controlling and-gontrolling interest were adjusted to reflect the changes in the
Corporation’s equity i nt gingamduntswere iRe@dgniZe sinectly imeluty ircaccuisitprereserve amda
any difference between the amount by which the-camtrolling interest was adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid was
attributed to the Corporation

Cumulative translation adjustments

Exchange differences relating to the transl ati on odcutehcg ne
into the Corporation’s presentational currency ae. @hisresecve g ni
also recognizes the realized and unrealized gains and losses in derivative instruments designated as net investmeatriwddeés. S

Cash flow hedging reserve

This reserve recognizes realized and unrealized gains and losses inweimsatuments designated as cash flow hedges. See note 19.
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Stock Options

The following table provides information about outstanding stock options issued under the Plans:

As at December3l, 2018

As at December3l, 2017

Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Number of exerciseprice Number of exerciseprice
options CDN $ options CDN $

Beginning balance 6,875,61¢ 25.24 10,358,47! 20.54
Transactions during the period:
Issued — — 202,00( 18.3C
Exercised (1,731,76) 23.2¢ (2,899,189 7.47
Forfeited (401,925 19.17 (785,675 27.5€
Ending balance 4,741,93( 26.4¢ 6,875,611t 25.24

No stock options were granted during the year ended December 31, 2018 (December 3ith@@atporation granted an aggregate

of 202,000stock options nder the Plans).

The outstanding stock options issued under the Plans are exercisable at prices ranging fr@n8®DMNDN$35.30per share and

have a weighted average contractual terrd.b7 years.

The weighted average exercise priceopfions exercised during the year ended December 31, 2018 was2GRREecember 31,

2017— CDN$7.47).

A summary of exercisable options per stock option grant under the Plans is as follows:

Outstanding options

Exercisable options

Weighted
average
outstanding

Weighted
average
outstanding

Number of maturity period Number of maturity period

Exercise price CDN $ options (years) options (years)
0.01 to 8.00 36,50( 0.81 36,50( 0.81
8.01to 16.00 40,00( 4.03 20,00 4.03
16.01 to 24.00 1,470,15( 3.6C 1,123,32! 3.4C
24.01 to 32.00 2,336,32¢ 2.88 2,198,12¢ 2.84
32.01 to 40.00 858,95: 3.3C 690,67 3.26

4,741,93( 3.17 4,068,63( 3.05

The Corporation recorded a compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2018nufliin (December 31, 2017
$10.6million). As at DecembeB1, 2018, the Corporation had.8 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to the
issuance of stock options to be recorded in future periods.

The stock options issued during the year ended December 31, 2017 were accounted for ahthuzitegfair value of %79,000as
determined by the Blae®cholesMerton valuation model using the following weightederage assumptions:

2017
Expected volatility 55%
Expected life 4.75year:
Expected forfeiture rate 17%
Risk-free interest rate 1.02%
Dividend yield Nil
Weighted average share price CDN $18.3(
Weighted average fair value of options at grant date CDN $4.4¢

The expected life of the options was estimated using the averabe wéstingperiod and the contractual life of the options. The
expected volatility was estimated based o0 nd75yeapréedngtbergant.i on
The expected forfeiture rate was estimated based on a combination of historical forfeiture rates and expected turnover rates.
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RSUs

The following table provides information about outstanding RSUs issued by the Corporation un@édsthe @ity Incentive Plan.

Weighted
Weighted Average Average Fair
2018No. of units Fair Value 2017No. of units Value
Balance as at January 1 141,06 $22.4¢ — —
Issued 123,83: $31.92 153,06¢ $22.41
Vested and settled (35,26¢) $22.47 (12,000 $21.8(
Forfeited (9,429 $22.5¢ — —
Balance as at December 31 220,20( $29.7:2 141,06¢ $22.4¢

PSUs

The following table provides information about outstanding PSUs issued by the Corporation under the 2015 Equity Ingeritive Pla
addition to the issued and outstanding PSUs, the Corporation will issue additiorsabP8iJto50% upon the achievement of market
vesting conditions

Weighted Weighted
2018 Average Fair 2017 Average Fair
No. of units Value No. of units Value
Balance as at January 1 282,03¢ $22.47 — —
Issued 423,37¢ $30.0¢ 282,03¢ $22.41
Vested and settled — — — —
Forfeited (19,464) $22.5¢ — —
Balance as at December 31 685,94¢ $27.17 282,03¢ $22.417

DSUs

The following table provides information about outstanding DSUs issued by the Corporation under the 2015 Equity Inaentive Pla

Weighted Weighted
Average Fair Average Fair
2018No. of units Value 2017No. of units Value
Balance as at January 1 92,70¢ $15.2¢ — —
Issued 133,38: $22.9¢ 92,70 $15.2¢
Vested and settled (24,83)) $23.17 — —
Forfeited — — — —
Balance as at December 31 201,25¢ $19.3¢ 92,70: $15.2¢

Dividend Equivalents
During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2(idiyidends were declared.
Warrants

The following table provides information about outstanding warrants at December 35rizD2817:

As at December31, 2018

As at December31, 2017

Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Number of exerciseprice Number of exerciseprice
warrants CDN $ warrants CDN $
Beginning balance 4,000,00( 19.17 4,000,00( 19.17
Issued — — — —
Exercised (4,000,000 19.17 — —
Expired — — — —
Ending balance — — 4,000,00( 19.17

26. FAIR VALUE

The Corporation determined that the carrying values of its-short financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair value because

of the relatively short periods to maturity of these instruments and low risk of credit.
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Certain of the Corporation’s

2018 and December 31, 2017:

financi

al

assets

As at December31, 2018

a n dThd follavng | i t
table provides informatioabout how the fair values of these financial assets and liabilities are determined as at each of December :

Fair value &
carrying

In thousands of U.S. Dollars value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Bonds- FVOCI 103,15: 103,15: — —
Equity in unquoted companiesVTPL 6,773 — — 6,773
Derivatives 54,58: — 42,98: 11,60(C
Total financial assets 164,50¢ 103,15: 42,98: 18,37¢
Derivatives 22,561 — 6,27¢€ 16,28¢
Deferred contingent paymenEFVTPL 77,62¢ — — 77,62¢
Other longterm liabilities- FVTPL 2,74C — — 2,74C
Total financial liabilities 102,92¢ — 6,27€ 96,65:

As at December31, 2017
Fair value &
carrying

In thousandef U.S. Dollars value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Bonds- Available-for-sale 115,34 115,34 — —
Funds- Available-for-sale 7,04t 7,04k — —
Equity in unquoted companief\vailable-for-sale 6,981 — — 6,981
Equity in quoted companiesAvailable-for-sale 281 281 — —
Total available-for-sale 129,65( 122,66¢ — 6,981
Derivatives 2,037 — 2,037 —
Total financial assets 131,68 122,66¢ 2,037 6,981
Derivatives 121,88 — 111,76: 10,11¢
Total financial liabilities 121,88 — 111,767 10,11¢

Refer to note 29 for details on credit risk for the above financial assets.

The fair values of other financial assets and liabilities measurati@tized cost on the consolidated statements of financial position
as at each of December 31, 2018, and December 31, 2017 are as follows:

As at December31, 2018

In thousands of U.S. Dollars Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
First Lien Term Loans 4,414,52! — 4,414,52! —
Senior Notes 969,37( — 969,37( —
Total financial liabilities 5,383,89! o) 5,383,89! —
As at December31, 2017
In thousands of U.S. Dollars Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Previous First Lien Term Loans 2,370,33! — 2,370,33! —
USD Second Lien Term Loan 95,71: — 95,71: —
Total financial liabilities 2,466,04¢ — 2,466,04¢ —

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are recognized by the Corporation at the end of the reportingipgriddddur

the transfer occurred as part of its periodic review of fair values. Therenadransfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy
during the year ended December 31, 2018. During the year end December 31, 2017, the Corporation reassessduakthéefairchy

of its longterm debt and reclassified it from Level 1 to Level 2 fair value hierarchy. In addition, the Corporation reassessed the f
value hierarchy in respect t§ previouslyheld preferred shares of a subsidiaryh¥X Gaming Groupand reclassified it transferred

it from Level 3 to Level 2Following this transfer, the Corporatisnldall of its securities of NYX Gaming Group
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Valuation of Level 2 fair values
Long-Term Debt

The Corporation estimates the fair value oflaisg-term debt by using a composite price derived from observable market data for a
basket of similar instruments.

Derivative Financial Instruments

Currently, the Corporation uses cross currency swap and interest rate swap agreements to manageréteiatalestreign currency
risk and foreign currency forward and option contracts to manage foreign currendjhgslkaluation of these instruments is determined
using widely accepted valuation techniques including discounted cash flow analysis gpeittestxash flows of each derivative. This
analysis reflects the contractual terms of the derivatives, including the period to maturity, and uses observaklasedriketuts,
including interest rate curveas well aspot and forward rates.

To comply with the provisions dFRS 13, Fair value measuremeiiie Corporation incorporates credit valuation adjustments to
appropriately reflect both its own ngmer f or mance ri sk and t h-perfornarsce sk in ithe &air valoeu n t
measurements$n adjusting the fair value of its derivative contracts for the effect ofpmsformance risk, the Corporation has
considered the impact of netting and any applicable credit enhancements, such as collateral postings, thresholds, ,rantlial puts
guarantees.

Although the Corporation has determined that the majority of the inputs used to value its derivatives fall within Lihef&rofalue
hierarchy, the credit valuation adjustments associated with its derivatives utilize Level 3 soght@s estimates of current credit
spreads to evaluate the likelihood of default by itself and its counterpattiegver, as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017,
the Corporation has assessed the significance of the impact of the credit vadptgiments on the overall valuation of its derivative
positions, with the exception of the Embedded Derivative which is classified as Level 3, and determined that the ctiediit valua
adjustments are not significant to the overall valuation of its der@sAs a result, the Corporation determined that its valuations of
the Swap Agreements and Previous Swap Agreements in their entirety are classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair values

Some of t h e fin@noial gssets ard liabilitiés are classified as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy because the respective f
value determinations use inputs that are not based on observable market data. As at December 31, 2018 and Decemlfer 31, 20!
each LeveB asset or liability the valuation techniques and key inputs used by the Corporation were as follows:

- Equity in private companies (Level 3 Asséthie Corporation values its equity investment in private companies with reference
to earnings measures frommsiar businesses in the same or similar industry and adjusts for any significant changes in the
earnings multiple and the valuatioBhanges in the fair value of equity in private companies are recordessiiigain) on
disposal of investments and ottessetawvithin general and administrative expense on the consolidated statements of (loss)
earnings.

- Promissory note (Level 3 Asset): The Corporation recognized a promissory note in connection with the sale of a form
subsidiary. The Corporation receivdeb tfull balance of the promissory note during the year ended December 31, 2017.

- Deferred contingent payment (Level 3 Liability) in connection with the acquisition of the additi®¥atquity interest in
BetEasy (see note 5): The Corporation used angghkral derivativdbased simulation of the underlying EBITDA forecast to
determine the fair value of the deferred contingent payment, used a discountl@t@¥6énd an EBITDA forecast with an
estimated volatilityof 25% of the historic EBITDA of omparable companieA. five percentage point increase or decrease in
the estimated volatility would have$8.8 million or $0.7 million impact on fair value, respectivelghanges in the fair value
of the deferred contingent payment are recordegirfinancing changes on thensolidategstatements of (loss) earnings.

- Embedded Derivative (Level 3 Asset) in connection with the Senior Notes issuance: The Corporation used an interest r
option pricing valuation model to determine the fair valuthefRedemption option using an implied credit sprez@i&b at
issuance and.6% at December 31, 2018.10 basis poinincrease or decrease in the implied credit spread would haké a $
million or $0.9 million impact on fair valuerespectively Changes in the fair value of tfienbedded Derivativare recorded
in net financing changes on thensolidatedtatements of (loss) earnings.

- Unsettled bets (Level 3 Liability): The principal assumptions used in the valuation of unsetsliésithe anticipated outcomes
for the events related to the unsettled bets (gross win margin). A reasonable change in the gross win margin would not ha
material impact on fair valu&Changes in the fair value of the deferred contingent payment @edeel in revenue on the
consolidatecstatements of (loss) earnings.
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- Included within other level 3 liabilities:

o EBITDA support agreement (Level 3 Liability): As previously disclosed, in connection withitia¢ public offering
Innova Gaming Group IncT(S X: | GG) , the“Cbrporation entered into an EBITDA support agreement with
Innova. The Corporation uses a net present value approach for the EBITDA support agreemeist Biniisaount
rate (2017 5.7% discount rate). A reasonable change¢hie discount rate would not have a material impact on fair
value. The fair value of theupportagreemenas at December 31, 2018 wé&sBmillion and is included in accounts
payable and other liabilitie€hanges in the fair value of the EBITDA suppegreement are recorded in net financing
changes on the consolidated statements of (loss) earnings.

o LicensingAgreement (Level 3 Liability): As previously disclosed, a subsidiary of the Corporation entered into a
supplier |l icensing agreement with NYTXe L&ansinghgeendnt o up
expired during the year ended December 31, 2018.

The following table shows a reconciliation from opening balances to the closing balances for Level 3 fair values:

Level 3 Level 3 Embedded
In thousands of U.S Dollars Level 3 Equity Promissory note Derivative
Balancei January 1, 2017 15,24¢ 4,827 o}
Transfers into Level 3 (8,52¢6) — —
Re-measurement of fair value 258 3,257 —
Settlement — (8,084) —
Balancei December 31, 2017 6,981 — —
Adjustment on adoption of IFRS 9 1,787 — —
Balancei January 1, 2018 (restated) 8,76¢ — —
Recognized — — 17,70C
Re-measurement of fair value (1,979 — (6,100)
Translation (22) — —
Balancei December31, 2018 6,772 — 11,60(

Level 3 Deferred Level 3 Unsettlec

In thousands of U.S Dollars contingent payment Bets * Other
Balancei January 1, 2017 195,50¢ 518 23,23(
Settlement (197,510 179 (14,905
Re-measurement of fair value 2,004 38 718
Translation — 43 1,07¢
Balancei December 31, 2017 — 778 10,11¢
Acquired on business combination 84,66: 19,22¢ —
Settlements — 968 (7,00€)
Re-measurement of fair value (342 (4,782) 215
Translation (6,692) 94 (588)
Balancei December31, 2018 77,628 16,28 2,74C

* The unsettled bets liability is recorded in accounts payable and other liabilities congwidatedstatement of financial position as
at December 31, 2017 and is recorded in derivatives orotepidatedstatement of financial position as at December 31, 2018.
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27. STATEMENT S OF CASH-FLOWS

Changes in norcash operating elements of working capital

Year Ended Decembei31,

In thousands of U.S. Dollars 2018 2017

Accounts receivable 90,677 (6,70¢)
Prepaid expenses (14,250 (6,243%)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (112,27%) 6,931
Provisions 15,652 2,66¢€
Other 10,79: (447)
Total (9,403) (3,801

Changes inliabilities arising from financing activities

The table below detail s ¢ hgxclgding deiivativetingteimegtarisimpgdrona financng ‘acivitiési a b
including both cash and narash changes. Liabilities arising frdinancing activities are those which cash flows were, or future cash

fl ows wil.| be, classi fi ed i rsoftakheflons asrngt cashdldwis fsrom’firmncingantisitees. i d at e
Financing cash The effect of changes il December 31,
In thousands of U.S. Dollars January 1, 2018 * flows foreign exchange rates Other changes 2018
Long-term debt 2,314,67" 2,978,75: (46,040 199,56¢ 5,446,95¢
Balancei December31, 2018 2,314,67" 2,978,75: (46,040 199,56¢ 5,446,95¢
January 1, 2011 Financing cash The effect of changes il Other changes December 31,
In thousands of U.S. Dollars flows foreign exchange rates 2017
Settlement of margin 7,397 (7,602 205 — —
Deferred payment provision 195,50¢ (197,510 — 2,004 —
Long-term debt 2,428,57! (144,637) 56,371 18,251 2,358,56¢
Balancei December3l, 2017 2,631,48. (349,744 56,57¢ 20,25¢ 2,358,56¢

* Adjusted on adoption of IFRS $ee note 4.
28. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As parto f management’ s ongoing regulatory compliance and oper
regulatory developments and proceedings, and their potential impact on the business.

Kentucky

Prior to the Stars Interactive Group Acqtiish, the Commonwealth of Kentucky, ex. rel. J. Michael Brown, Secretary of the Justice
and Public Safety Cabinet, filed a | egal proceedingsdagaiam
various other tetkpdBnbobseéttheg”" Kenpursuant to which the Co
on behalf of Kentucky residents who played ne@iney poker on the PokerStars website during the period between Qt2pR6€06

and April15, 20110n Augustl?, 2015, the trial court in the Kentucky Proceeding entered a default judgment against the Oldforc
Parties following certain alleged discovery failures, including by certain former owners of Oldford Group., and partialysumma
judgment on liability in faer of the Commonwealtlon December 23, 2015, the trial court entered an order for damages in the amount
of $290 million, which the trial court trebled to880 million, plus interest at the statutory rat€he Corporation, through certain
subsidiaries, filed a notice of appeal to the Kentucky Court of Appeals and p@it@draillion supersedeas bond to stay enforcement

of the order for damages during the pendency of the appeals prdoessnnection with the posting of the bond, tBerporation
delivered cash collateral in the amount &frillion and letters of credit in the aggregate amount&% ®illion. On December 21,
2018,the Kentucky Court of Appeatsiled intheC o r p o r favoriandnevessed in its entirety the7® million judgment

On January 18, 2018, the Commonwealth filed a motion for discretionary review with the Kentucky Supreme Court askingtthe Cour
determine if it will hear an appeal of the decision issued by the Kentucky Court of Appeals. As tf ti¢hdse consolidated financial
statements a deci sion regarding the Commonweal th’s motion for d
I f the Kentucky Supreme Court ddhe Caperatiowilbvigtrausyrdispute the ligbditsnasdat n w e
believes the action is frivolous. To the extent the Oldford Parties may be ultimately obligated to pay any amounts@ar§inaht t
adjudication following exhaustion of all appeals and other legal optibesCorporatiorintends to seek recovery against the former
owners of Oldford Group.
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In late-January 2016, pursuant to and in accordance with the procedures set forth in the merger agreement governing thetB&rs Intere
Group Acquisition, a subsidiany the Corporatios ubmi tt ed a notice of c¢claim to the se
indemnification for losses and potential losses caused by breaches under the merger agreement and requesting, amgsgtbéter thi
the escrow agenttan the therremaining balance of the escrow fund established under the merger agreement in an aggregate amo
equal to 800million. With the exception of the claim relating to the Kentucky Proceeding, all such claims have since been settled. Tl
escow fund was reduced accordingly and continues to be held by the escrow agent. The remaining disputed claim regarding
Kentucky Proceedings and release of the outstanding escrow funds will be resolved in accordance with the provisiomgef aimel me
escrow agreements related to the Stars Interactive Group Acquisition, and there can be no assurance that such cldinim aillyresul
amounts in the escrow fund being remittedthe Corporation or that any ofie Co r p o r astimates df potential lossewill
reimbursed by the sellers or otherwise.

Class Action

Thereis one currently pending class action complamQuebec, Canadat he “ Qu e b e ¢ ag@ihsatisesCorgoration and ”
certain other defendants, whialasfiled during the year ended December 31, 2016gamrally allegg among other things, that the
Corporation violated certain securities laws by misrepresenting or failing to disclose information related to the charfgstinead
Autorité des marchésrfanciersagainst the former Chigxecutive Officetandthat the Corporation did not properly disclose that it had
inadequate or ineffective internal controls and that one or more of its directors and its former Chief Executive Offindyreckof

its Code of Business Conduct

The Corporation believes that the Quebec Clasgoh is without merit and intends to vigorously defend itself; however, there can be
no assurance that the Corporation will be successful in its defense. No provision hasdreleu regarding this matter.

Given the nature of the legal and regulatory landscape of the industry in which it operates, from time to time the Gdrasi@so
received notices, communications and legal actions from regulatory authorities ursyarisdictions and other parties in respect of its
activities. The Corporation has taken legal advice as to the manner in which it should respond and the likelihood of sucbtess
actions. Based on this advice and the nature of the actions, ndqmeviave been recorded with respect to any such legal or regulatory
notices, communications or actions for the year ended December 31, 2018.

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS RISK MANAGEMENT
Foreign Exchange Risk

The Corporation is subject to foreigarrency exposure on its financial instruments and the translationsohbissdiaries witoreign
functional currencieto USD. The Corporatioprimarily manages its foreign currency exposure through its hedging instruments. See
note 19. As at Decembef 3 2018, the Corporation’s significant foreighn
currency was as follosv(in U.S. dollar equivalents):

CDN EUR GBP AUD
Cash 10,09¢ 102,757 150,37 3,27¢
Restricted cash — 998 — 5,837
Equity in unquoted companies=VTPL — 6,13¢ — —
Accounts receivable 8,884 52,127 48,98¢ 2,681
Derivatives — 42,98: — —
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (10,817 (52,457 (176,97¢ (46,700
Long-term debt — (951,980) — —
Derivatives — (1,843 (12,819 —
Customer deposits (407) (83,587 (53,41¢) (39,120

The table below details the effect equity andearnings before tax of H0% strengthening or weakening of the USD exchange rate at
the balance sheet date for balance sheetitemsd mi nat ed i n CDN, EUR, GBP and AUD af't
activities

Earnings impact - gain (loss) Equity impact - gain (loss)
10% 10% 10%
Strengthening 10% Weakening Strengthening Weakening
Currency $00060 ¢ $00050 $00050 $00060
CDN (421) 421 (355) 355
EUR (6,76E5) 6,76¢ 95,251 (95,257)
GBP 555 (555) 3,831 (3,831)
AUD (43) 43 7,44F (7,445)
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The table below details the effect on equity 4086 strengthening or weakening of the EUR:U&Dhe EUR:GBRexchange rateon
thevaluations of th&wap Agreementhat hedge the USD First Lien Term Lodf% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting fo